
Summons to Meeting

Tuesday 22 January 2019

Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee

Wednesday 30 January 2019, 9.30 am

Council Chamber - Allerdale House, Workington

Membership:
Councillor Alan Pitcher (Chair) Councillor Janet Farebrother (Co-Chair)
Councillor John Cook Councillor Joseph Cowell
Councillor Malcolm Grainger Councillor Hilary Harrington
Councillor Joe Holliday Councillor Frank Johnston
Councillor Billy Miskelly Councillor Jim Osborn
Councillor Bill Pegram Councillor Martin Wood

If you have any questions or queries contact Ian Hinde on 01900 702544.

Agenda
1. Apologies for Absence  

2. Declaration of Interests  
Councillors/Staff to give notice of any disclosable pecuniary interest, other 
registrable interest or any other interest and the nature of that interest relating to 
any item on the agenda, in accordance with the adopted Code of Conduct.

3. Call In - Consideration of proposals for the development of a new 
community stadium for Workington  (Pages 3 - 94)
(Members are advised that items in pages 23-58 of this report have been 
redacted, if discussion of these matters are to be held, this item will be moved 
onto part 2 of the agenda)

The Chairman will move:-  
“That under Section 100 (A) (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public be 
excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the grounds that 
they may involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 
of part 1 of Schedule 12 (a) of the Act.”

Page 1



4. Call In - Future Plans for Borough Park and Derwent Park  (Pages 95 - 112)

Executive Minutes 16 January 2019  
To follow.

Call-in Protocol for Overview and Scrutiny Committee  (Pages 113 - 118)

Corporate Director

Page 2



‘CALL-IN’ REQUEST FORM 
 

This form should be used by any Councillors wishing to call-in 
 

1. any decision taken by the Executive, or an Executive decision taken by an officer with 
delegated authority, for reconsideration prior to implementation; 

 
2. any matter to be considered to be outside the Policy and Budget Framework. 

 
Please return your form to Democratic Services. Continue on separate sheet if necessary. 

 
 

 

1.  Call-In of a decision made by the Executive 
 

Decision Minute No: 
 

………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 

Decision Title: 

Consideration of proposals for the development of a new community stadium for 
Workington 

 
 

 

Please indicate the grounds for calling in the decision for review 
 

Documents before the Executive fell far short of the level of evidence required to support 
such an ambitious, expensive, and potentially unsustainable project. The Draft Business 
Case was littered with assumptions and aspirations but light on evidence. 

 
Supporting documents were also redacted. In normal circumstances this would provide a 
prima facie justification for call-in of itself. However, in this case a redacted version of the 
document has already been obtained which shows that many of the redactions made were 
not commercially sensitive but seem rather to have been made to cover over flimsy 
evidences and arguments. 

 
Councillors have agreed to delegate decisions to officers despite appearing to have been 
provided no detail of the decisions that they’re delegating. Given the wide scope of these 
decisions, and the serious financial and reputational risks to the council, this would appear 
reckless. 

 
What written evidence do you believe needs to be considered or reconsidered? 

 
An unredacted version of the Draft Business Case should be made available to all 
councillors including and especially those who sit on Scrutiny. 

 
A sustainability appraisal should also be considered comparing the proposed Stadium with 
comparators cited in the Draft Business Case. 

 
Justification should be provided of the requirement for stadia of the size and scale of that 
proposed, and the likelihood of gate targets being met by the clubs in the proposed 
timescales. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



Assumptions rely heavily on income from the NHS and Sellafield but no information has 
been offered about the length and security of any lease proposals. Will leases be longer 
than any proposed loans? 

 
There is an option for the council to sell the income streams, no evidence as to what effect 
that may have on the operation of the stadium itself or on the future of the clubs. 

 
No evidence has been offered regarding the viability and sustainability of the clubs. The 
Draft Business Case makes clear that there is a serious revenue impact on both clubs, yet 
there is no detail about how the clubs will manage this going forwards. This is important as 
the proposal cites the future of the clubs as justification. 

 
Oral evidence - are there stakeholders or interested parties you feel have not been consulted in 
reaching the decision, views that have not been given sufficient weight, or other witnesses that 
you feel should be heard. Why? 

 
The proposal is essentially for a partnership, but there was no direct evidence offered from 
potential partners. 

 
Are there risks or repercussions to the decision which you feel have not been taken into account? 

 
Virtually all of the jobs that will be generated (excluding construction, which are by their 
nature temporary) will be substitutions or displacements. There is no evidence of any 
discussion of the wider impacts of such displacement, i.e. the impact on local private food 
businesses or potentially on the future of Workington Community Hospital or any of the 
existing Doctor’s surgeries. These impacts are most important given that it is a Local 
Authority proposal. 

 
The level of real benefits arising from the proposed investment falls far short of the 
financial risks that the Council would be exposing itself both as partner but potentially 
even more so as stadium owner. 

 
The report before the Executive also made no reference to opportunity costs i.e. if the 
Council commits to dedicating £25m minimum of its assessed £38m 'headroom' for raising 
capital funds, what other potential socially beneficial projects will it be unable to support as 
a consequence? 

 
The proposal speaks of 'civic pride' but the intended benefits seem limited to Workington 
alone, indeed the stadium is billed as the ‘Workington Community Stadium’. Why should 
all residents of Allerdale be expected to financially support a project of restricted benefit? 

 
 
 

 

Cllr Bill Finlay 24 January 2019 
 

Page 4



Allerdale Borough Council 
 

Executive – 16 January 2019 
 

Consideration of proposals for the development of a new community stadium 
for Workington 

 
  
The Reason for the Decision To consider the outline business case for the 

development of a new community stadium in 
Workington and agree further work required in 
relation to the delivery of this project. 

  
Summary of options considered  This report outlines the options considered in 

relation to the alternative sites considered for the 
development of a shared stadium, the options for 
funding the proposed development, options for 
the procurement of a main contractor for the 
construction of the project and options for the 
future management of the proposed stadium.  

  
Recommendations It is recommended that: 

 
1. Members agree to proceed with proposals 

to develop a new community stadium for 
Workington on the site of Borough 
Park/Lonsdale Park, Workington subject 
to: 
- Subsequent approval of the full 

business case including the financial 
business case, operating arrangements 
and funding arrangements: 
 

- The grant of planning permission. 
 

2. The approval of heads of terms with 
Workington Town and Workington Reds in 
relation to the commercial terms for the 
use of the stadium be delegated to the 
Corporate Director. 
 

3. The approval of heads of terms with the 
NHS and Sellafield Ltd in relation to the 
rental of office space within the 
development be delegated to the Head of 
Place Development. 
 

4. Members agree to the extension of the 
appointment of the design team and other 
related appointments required to develop 

Page 5



the design to the end of RIBA Stage 3. 
 

5. That members agree to the appointment of 
consultants to undertake intrusive grounds 
investigation works and radon assessment 
to inform future design development work.  
 

6. A total spend of £373,955 is approved from 
the Strategic Priorities budget made up as 
follows: 
 

• £228,603 for Design fees and 
related appointments 

• £101,602 for Ground investigation 
works 

• £26,000 for planning fees. 

• £17,750 design and planning of 3G 
pitch 

  
Financial /  Resource Implications The full revenue and capital implications will be 

set out in a future report which considers the full 
business case for the proposed development. 
 
Approval is sought for the following revenue 
expenditure to support further design 
development work to the end of RIBA stage 3 to 
and submission of a planning application. 
 
Total amount requested is £373,955 from the 
Strategic Priorities budget. 
 
Design fees and related appointments to end of 
RIBA Stage 3 - £177,913 Design team, £44,691 
additional design and associated work, £6,000 
project management, totalling £228,603. 
 
Intrusive Ground Investigation £97,065 and 
Radon Assessment - £4,537, totalling £101,602 
 
Planning application fee - £26,000 (approximate 
pending confirmation of design) 
 
Design and Planning fees for 3G pitch - £17,750 

  
Legal / Governance Implications The Council has the power to support the 

development of a community stadium under 
section 145 Local Government Act 1972 
(entertainment power), section 144 (power to 
encourage visitors) and the incidental power in 
section 111, along with the general power of 

Page 6



competence in the Localism Act 2011 to do 
anything an individual could do. The Council must 
also exercise its powers properly taking into 
account all relevant considerations, including 
having regard to the funding available to the 
Council and the impact on residents and 
taxpayers of the cost of the development and the 
short and long term returns. 
 
It is proposed to establish a new Stadium 
Company to be responsible for the future 
management and operation of the stadium 
development. Further details will be brought back 
to Executive in due course. 
 
It is necessary to agree ‘heads of terms’ with key 
tenants including Workington Town, Workington 
Reds, the NHS and Sellafield Limited. 
 
It will be necessary to follow a robust and legally 
compliant procurement process for the 
procurement of a main contractor. 

  
Community Safety Implications To be taken into account in the detailed design 

work for the proposed stadium development. 
  
Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications 

In relation to the design work the appointed 
Architect is undertaking the role of Principal 
designer under the CDM Regulations. 
 
A risk assessment will be prepared to support the 
future consideration of the full business case 
including the financial business case, operating 
arrangements and funding arrangements. 

  
Equality Duty considered / Impact 
Assessment completed 

Yes 

  
Wards Affected Workington, St Michaels 
  
The contribution this decision would 
make to the Council’s priorities 

Tackling Inequality – creation of additional 
employment opportunities    
Strengthening our economy – creation of 
additional employment opportunities, support 
additional economic activity and attract new 
visitors to Allerdale. 
Enhancing our towns – regeneration of a key 
site, stimulate increased footfall and activity that 
will support town centre business. 
Improving health and wellbeing – provision of 

Page 7



first class healthcare facilities and encourage 
increased participation in sport and recreation. 
Creating a sustainable business – delivery of 
improved services to the community and create 
potential new income streams for the Council. 

  
Is this a Key Decision Yes  
  
Portfolio Holder Councillor Mark Fryer 
  
Lead Officer  Kevin Kerrigan, Head of Place Development 

kevin.kerrigan@allerdale.gov.uk 
01900 702799 

 
 
Report Implications (Please delete where applicable). 
 

Community Safety Y Employment (external to the Council) Y 

Financial  Y Employment (internal) Y 

Legal Y Partnership Y 

Social Inclusion Y Asset Management Y 

Equality Duty Y Health and Safety Y 

 
Background papers: Equality Impact Assessment  
 
 
1.0 Introduction 
 
1.1 As members will recall in early 2018 the Council was approached by 

Workington Town Rugby League Club and Workington Reds AFC to seek the 
Council’s support in the consideration of proposals to develop a new 
community stadium for the clubs recognising the age, deteriorating condition 
of the existing stadia at Borough Park and Derwent Park and the ongoing 
challenges of maintaining these facilities for both clubs. 
 

1.2 The Council has a key role to play in terms of the potential development of a 
shared stadium being the landlord to both clubs with Workington Town having 
a long term lease at Derwent Park and Workington Reds have a shorter term 
lease at Borough Park which ends in April 2025. The development of a new 
stadium has the potential to make a significant contribution to the delivery of 
the Council’s priorities. In relation to the Council Plan objective of ‘Improving 
Health and Wellbeing’ a priority project set out in the Council’s Business Plan 
for 2018/19 is to ‘improve the provision of leisure and sporting facilities 
working with partners to support future development’. The approach from the 
sporting clubs to consider the development of a new shared stadium is fully 
aligned with this key Council priority. 
 

Page 8



1.3 From an early stage, informed by research and consideration of similar 
proposals elsewhere, it was clear that the development of a new stadium 
simply providing match day facilities for the sporting clubs is unlikely to be 
financially sustainable or make a significant contribution to the Council’s wider 
priorities. It has therefore been necessary to develop proposals to incorporate 
related development and alternative uses into the stadium development to 
ensure the long term viability and financial sustainability of the project. 
 

1.4 This report provides a summary of the work undertaken to date to develop the 
proposals for a new stadium and related development, presents a draft 
business case for the proposed development and sets out the further work 
that will be required to deliver the development should members agree to 
proceed. 
 

2.0 Progress to date 
 

2.1 Following the approach to the Council by Workington Town and Workington 
Reds a Project Board was established to identify a preferred site and explore 
the key parameters and options for the development of a new stadium. This 
Project Board included equal representation from the Council, Workington 
Town and Workington Reds. 
 

2.2 It was recognised that additional capacity and specialist support would be 
required to develop the stadium proposals and a business case for the 
development. As members are aware the Council’s approved budget for 
2018/19 included provision for a strategic priorities fund. One of the aims of 
establishing this fund was to support the development of detailed business 
cases for investment decisions aligned with the Council’s priorities. Utilising 
funding from this strategic priorities fund consultancy support was procured to 
provide a project management resource for the project. An officer steering 
group chaired by the Corporate Director was also established to ensure the 
project development work was fully coordinated.  
 

2.3 Taking into account the need to incorporate related uses into the development 
at an early stage discussions were initiated with representative of the NHS to 
explore the possibility of incorporating healthcare facilities into the stadium 
development. This is a form of development that has been successfully 
incorporated into the development of community stadiums elsewhere and 
would make a significant contribution to delivering the Council’s priorities in 
relation to health and well-being. 
 
Rugby League World Cup 2021 
 

2.4 At the meeting held on 11 July 2018 the Council agreed to submit a bid to the 
Rugby League World Cup 2021 to become a match host, team camp and 
training venue. The success of the bid to host the RLWC in 2021 is not 
fundamental to the business case for the proposed stadium however, in 
approving the submission of the bid it was acknowledged that the 
development of a new community stadium in Workington was likely to be a 
crucial factor in the potential success of the bid. The bid was therefore 

Page 9



predicated on the development of a new stadium and the legacy it will 
provide.  In approving the submission of the bid members noted the work that 
had been undertaken in relation to the stadium project up to that point, 
including the establishment of the project board and appointment of 
management support, as well as the intention to procure external design 
support to assist with project development.  
 

2.5 The decision as to whether the Council’s bid to host the RLWC in 2021 is 
successful is expected at the end of January 2019 and based on feedback to 
date from RLWC there are good grounds to be optimistic about the outcome. 
 
Identification of the preferred site  
 

2.6 A key priority for the project board was to identify a preferred site for the 
proposed community stadium. An outline of the site options considered and 
the selection process is set out in the draft business case. The site selection 
process was guided by an agreement with the clubs that a new stadium with a 
capacity of 8000 was the preferred option taking into account the future 
ambitions of both clubs. The preferred site agreed by the Project Board was 
the site of the existing football ground at Borough Park subject to the 
acquisition of the adjacent land at the former Lonsdale Park. Key benefits of 
the Borough Park site as the preferred location for the shared development 
are the potential to contribute to the wider regeneration of the Lower Derwent 
Valley, the proximity to Workington town centre, the sustainable location of 
the site in relation to existing public transport services and good vehicular 
access to the highway network.  
 
Acquisition of land at Lonsdale Park.  
 

2.7 Lonsdale Park is the site of the former greyhound stadium adjacent to the 
existing football ground at Borough Park. The site selection process identified 
that Borough Park offered a number of locational advantages for a new 
stadium but was unlikely to be of sufficient size to accommodate the stadium 
and the related development proposed without the acquisition of the adjacent 
land.  
 

2.8 The acquisition of the land at Lonsdale Park provides greater flexibility in 
relation to development options for the new stadium and related development. 
However, the land was nevertheless important in terms of the wider 
regeneration of the Lower Derwent Valley taking into account the following: 
 

• the Council’s existing land ownership in this area; 

• emerging planning policy being developed as part of the Allerdale 
Local Plan (Part 2); 

• the potential to contribute to support opportunities for leisure and 
recreation, enhanced pedestrian and cycle links and proposals that 
support enhanced biodiversity.  

 

Page 10



2.9 There was therefore considered to be a strategic case for the acquisition of 
this site even if proposals for the development of a new stadium at this site 
were not to proceed.  
 

2.10 Progress has already been made in the regeneration of this area in terms of 
the development of the new Workington Leisure and the grant of planning 
permission for hotel and restaurant development on land at Church Street, 
Workington. 
 

2.11 The Council’s approved budget for 2018/19 includes provision for a strategic 
acquisitions fund that enables the Council to acquire land in accordance with 
the approved Disposals and Acquisitions Policy for Land and Property and 
which contributes to the delivery of the Council’s objectives.  
 

2.12 Following negotiations with agents acting for the owners of Lonsdale Park and 
receipt of an independent valuation a purchase price was agreed and for the 
reasons outlined above the acquisition was considered to accord with the 
provisions of the Council’s Disposals and Acquisitions Policy. The Chief 
Executive therefore approved the acquisition of this land as being within the 
scope of the authority’s scheme of delegation as set out in the Council’s 
Constitution. The purchase cost of the land was £210,000 with related costs 
of £13,370. 
 
Appointment of Design Team and Design Development Work  
 

2.13 To inform the development of a robust case for a new community stadium it 
was considered necessary to commission an external architect and design 
team to undertake initial design work. This is because the Council does not 
have the necessary ‘in-house’ skills or capacity to undertake this work. As 
highlighted above, the establishment of a strategic priorities fund within the 
approved Council budget for 2018/19 was aimed specifically at enabling the 
Council to commission the work required for the development of detailed 
business cases for this type of project to inform the investment decisions 
required.  
 

2.14 In relation to the procurement of a design team it was considered appropriate 
to utilise the Scape Framework. Scape is a local government owned and 
controlled company which specialises in the provision of single tender 
frameworks. The framework is fully OJEU compliant and is considered to 
provide good value. The Council has already signed an Access Agreement 
with Scape, therefore it was possible to use any of their framework 
agreements without further process.  
 

2.15 The Scape Built Environment Consultancy Services (BECS) framework 
provides access to a comprehensive suite of design and construction 
consultancy services. Scape have appointed Perfect Circle JV Ltd (Perfect 
Circle) to deliver the BECS framework. Perfect Circle is a joint venture 
between Pick Everard, Gleeds and Aecom who, in combination with supply 
chain partners, provide a range of core design consultancy services through 
the framework. 

Page 11



 
2.16 Discussions with Perfect Circle identified a design team including Gleeds 

providing Project Management and Quantity Surveying services, Aecom 
providing structural and civil engineering and mechanical and electrical 
engineering services and Holmes Miller as Architect and Principal Designer. 
In relation to the provision of architectural and design services Holmes Miller 
have significant experience in stadium design including the York Community 
Stadium. This is currently under construction and will provide a shared 
stadium for use by the City’s football and rugby league clubs as well as a 
range of related development.  
 

2.17 Whilst recognising that further appointments would be required as project 
development work was progressed the design team was initially appointed to 
progress design work to RIBA Stage 2 Concept Design. In accordance with 
the Council’s approved scheme of delegation the decision to appoint the 
design team was confirmed by the Corporate Director on 26 July 2018.  
 

2.18 The design brief was for a stadium with a permanent capacity of 8,000 with a 
mixture of seated and standing areas. Consideration should be given to the 
potential of providing additional temporary capacity should this be necessary 
in the event that the Council’s bid to host the RLWC in 2021 is successful. 
The stadium should include provision for hospitality and conferencing space. 
The brief also included for the provision of additional space for NHS related 
uses as well as for the provision of a full size 3G pitch adjacent to the stadium 
which is considered essential to deliver the ambitions of the Council, and the 
sporting clubs, in relation to increasing community use and participation. 
 

2.19 A series of initial meetings were held between the representatives of 
Workington Town, Workington Reds and the NHS so that the design team 
could better understand their aspirations and requirements for the stadium 
development.  With work in relation to the concept design progressing well it 
was necessary to make further appointments beyond that of the core design 
team to appoint sub-consultants and commission a series of site surveys and 
supporting studies to support design development work. In relation to the 
consideration of the most appropriate procurement route the Scape BECS 
Framework includes a process for these appointments to be made as a 
variation to the existing contract with Perfect Circle. To ensure value for 
money the additional commissions are undertaken by the core design team 
based on an agreed scope of works and agreed hourly rates or alternatively 
by additional appointments made following a tender process. A range of 
additional appointments was confirmed following a decision made by the 
Corporate Director on 9 October 2018 in accordance with the Council’s 
approved scheme of delegation. 
 

2.20 With further progress having been made in relation to the concept design and 
presented to the Project Board and with discussions with the NHS as well as 
with potential funders continuing to progress well it was considered that it 
would be beneficial to extend the appointment of the design team beyond 
RIBA Stage 2. This would assist in providing greater cost certainty in terms of 

Page 12



the likely costs of the proposed development and provide further confidence 
to prospective tenants that their requirements can be met by the development.  
 

2.21 Extending the appointment of the design team into the Development Design 
Stage (RIBA Stage 3) would enable the design to be developed to such a 
stage that a planning application could be submitted. The submission of a 
planning application will provide greater certainty for the sporting clubs and 
other potential tenants and funders and provide assistance in negotiations to 
secure their commitment to the scheme and the potential income streams this 
will attract. The submission of a planning application would also help to 
support the Council’s bid to host the Rugby League World Cup in 2021. As 
noted above although the success of the RLWC bid is not critical to the 
business case for the proposed stadium the opportunity for the development 
of a new stadium is an important component of the bid to host the RLWC. To 
facilitate the submission of a planning application it was also considered 
appropriate to appoint a planning consultant to advise and support the design 
team. These contract variations were to extent the appointment of the design 
team and appoint additional consultants were approved by the Corporate 
Director on 25 October 2018 in accordance with the Council’s approved 
scheme of delegation.  
 

2.22 The combined value of the appointments made in the key decisions outlined 
above date, and funded from the approved strategic priorities budget is as 
follows: 
 
Appointment to RIBA Stage 2 £157,887.50 
Appointment of sub-consultants £105,422.61 
Extension of design team 
appointment 

£85,862.50 

Appointment of Planning consultant £39,750.00 

TOTAL £388,922.61 
 

 
2.23 As noted in the delegated decision confirmed by the Corporate Director on 25 

October 2019 it had initially been intended to submit a planning application in 
December 2018. However, at the start of November, discussions commenced 
with Sellafield Ltd who expressed an interest in becoming a partner to the 
development through leasing substantial office space for up to 300 staff. This 
has the potential to make a significant contribution to the long term financial 
viability of the project and therefore the design team were instructed to 
consider options for incorporating this into the stadium design. This has 
required a complete redesign of the East stand of the stadium design to 
create 2,800 sq. m. of office space over 3 floors. 
 

2.24 The additional work required, both in terms of design development and the 
supporting studies required for the planning application, mean that it has been                       
necessary to delay the submission of a planning application until January 
2018. There have also been additional costs associated with the change in 
scope to the scheme in the form of design fees as well as additional 
requirements to support the planning application. In total these costs amount 

Page 13



to £44,691. In addition a planning application fee of approximately £26,000 
will be required depending on final confirmation of the design. 
 
Pre-application planning consultation  
 

2.25 To inform the preparation of the planning application a consultation event was 
held at Workington Leisure Centre on 4 December 2018 between 1pm and 
8pm.  A leaflet was devised for the event and distributed at the Leisure Centre 
and by the clubs. The event was promoted in a number of ways which 
included a press release, social media, a leaflet drop to local properties and 
with help from the clubs including on the Workington Reds stall for the 
Workington Christmas festival. The event attracted media attention from the 
local press, regional TV and radio. At the event details of the project and 
outline design were on display and the planning consultants and 
representatives of the design team along with council officers were available 
to answer questions. The event was well attended and the feedback received 
was overwhelmingly positive. Add further detail re feedback when available. 
 

2.26 Allerdale Councillors were invited to attend the consultation event in advance 
of the 1pm start advertised to members of the community. 
 

2.27 There were further opportunities for interested parties to view the plans and 
comment on the proposals via the Council’s website.  
 

3.0 Outline of Scheme Design  
 

3.1 The main components incorporated into the current scheme design include: -  
 

• 8000 capacity stadium with a mix of seating and standing 

• Hybrid grass playing pitch  

• 3G synthetic pitch for community use with related changing rooms 

• Hospitality and conference facilities 

• 2,600m2 floorspace for NHS 

• Pharmacy 

• 2,800m2 office floorspace 
 

3.2 The current design proposals will be available for members to view at the 
Executive meeting. 
 

4.0  Indicative Construction Costs  
 

4.1 Based on the design work undertaken to date the cost consultants have 
undertaken an elemental breakdown and benchmarking exercise to establish 
an estimated construction cost for the overall proposed development of 
£24.8m to £26.8m depending on fit out requirements for NHS and Sellafield 
office. In broad terms this comprises £1.1m in demolition and site preparation 
costs, £14.65m for the stadium including all club space requirements, £0.85 
for the 3G synthetic pitch and associated changing facilities and £8.2m to 
£10.2m for the health centre and office development. As design work is 
developed further a full cost plan will be finalised and refined throughout the 

Page 14



tendering and selection of a main contractor to provide cost certainty for the 
Council before an appointment is made in the summer. However at this stage 
a high level figure of £25m does provide a sound basis for developing a 
detailed business case for the proposed development.  

 
5.0 Outline Business Case  

 
5.1 The outline business case for the development of a community stadium for 

Workington is included in full at Appendix A. The outline business case is 
structured as follows:  

 

• Project vision 
 
Sets out the vision for the development of a new community stadium in 
Workington. 

 

• Strategic business case 
 
Sets out the strategic, spatial, health context for the proposed stadium 
and the benefits that would result from the development. 
 

• Economic appraisal 
 
Sets out the economic benefits of the proposed development. 
 

• Comparator study 
 
Considers similar stadium developments elsewhere and how these can 
inform the proposed development. 
 

• Site options 
 
Sets out the alternative site options considered and the reasons for 
identifying the preferred site 
 

• Planning issues 
 
Outlines the main planning issues to be taken into account in relating to 
the proposed development. 

 

• High level financial analysis 
 
Provides an outline of the financial analysis undertaken to date in 
relation to the proposed community stadium including high level 
operational costs and potential income streams and sets out options for 
the funding of the development. 
 

• Governance and management  
 

Page 15



Sets out options for the future management and operation of the 
proposed development and recommends the establishment of a 
stadium management company to manage the stadium as a business. 
 

5.2 The financial business case for the development is dependent on the income 
streams that can be achieved from key tenants including the sporting clubs 
and in particular the NHS and Sellafield Ltd. Whilst detailed ‘in principle’ 
discussions have taken place there is a need to finalise ‘heads of terms’ with 
both parties. Discussions have taken place with Workington Town and 
Workington Reds in relation to the commercial basis on which they would use 
the stadium and the associated income streams associated from which they 
will benefit. However, there is still a need to finalise ‘heads of terms’. 

 
6.0 Extension of appointment of design team  

 
6.1 The design team are currently appointed to a point that will enable the 

submission of a planning application in January 2019. To enable design 
development to continue and for a construction partner to be appointed in line 
with the project timeline outlined below it will be necessary, via the Scape 
BECS framework, to extend the design team appointment to develop the 
design for the stadium to a level of detail beyond that required for the planning 
application submission.  The design team appointment is in line with the RIBA 
Plan of Work which is the definitive UK model for the building design and 
construction process and which organises the design and construction 
process into a number of key stages. The current appointment to planning 
application stage is part way through RIBA Stage 3 and the remaining stages 
in the Plan of Work and the estimated fee schedule related to this, based on 
an overall construction cost of £26m is set out below: 
 

• Stage 3 – Development Design  £177,913 

• Stage 4 – Technical Design  £690,035 

• Stage 5 – Construction   £805,041  

• Stage 6 – Handover and close out £115,005 

• Stage 7 – In Use    N/A 
 

6.2 For the avoidance of doubt approval for expenditure beyond that required for 
RIBA Stage 3 Development Design is not sought at this stage but the 
estimated costs for stages 4-7 are included for information. 
 

6.3 In addition to the extension of the appointment of the core design team a 
number of other critical appointments have been identified as being 
necessary. In the first instance, and to inform the design and procurement 
process additional site surveys will be required in the form of intrusive site 
investigations to provide detailed information relating to ground conditions. 
The ground investigation work required has been subject to tender through 
the Scape BECS framework and the fee required is £97,065 with an additional 
work relating to a radon assessment amounting to £4,537.  
 

6.4 It will also be necessary to extent the appointment of the project management 
support to support the design process to the end of RIBA Stage 3 which is an 

Page 16



estimated cost of £6,000. Further appointments required in the future include 
the extension of the appointment of the landscape architect to develop the 
proposed landscape design to a level of detail beyond that required for the 
planning application and the provision of project management resource for the 
construction project however approval for these additional elements is not 
required at this stage and the necessary approvals will be sought when 
required.  
 

7.0 Project Timeline  
 

7.1 A project plan for the detailed design and construction of the proposed 
community stadium has been developed to demonstrate that the new stadium 
can be delivered in time to host the Rugby League World Cup in November 
2021. Key future milestones for the delivery of this project are: 
 

• Submission of planning application – January 2019 

• Appointment of construction partner – September 2019 

• Construction work commences - November 2019 

• Construction work completed – May 2021 
 
8.0 Procurement of main contractor  

 
8.1 Working with Gleeds the project team have considered possible procurement 

routes for the appointment of the main contractor for the construction of the 
new stadium 
 

8.2 The Council has positive experience of using frameworks for construction 
projects having used the Scape framework for the construction of the new 
leisure centre in Workington. The Council is also utilising the Scape 
framework for the construction of the proposed business units at Reedlands 
Road.  
 

8.3 In terms of the aspiration to complete construction of the stadium the use of 
an OJEU compliant framework offers significant advantages in relation to the 
timescale for the appointment of a main contractor. As the nominated 
contractors will already have been subject to a rigorous pre-qualification 
process relating to both price and quality. Assurance is provided that 
competitive best value rates can be achieved without the Council having to 
undertake a time and resource intensive selection and tender process that 
meetings with OJEU procurement rules. 
 

8.4 Although the Council has successfully used the Scape Construct framework in 
the past, there are a number of other potentially suitable construction 
frameworks. These include the North West Construction Hub, Procure North 
West and Pagaboo (an NHS framework). 
 

8.5 It is considered that the use of a pre-procured framework would be the most 
appropriate procurement route for the appointment of the main contractor for 
this project. Detailed analysis of the benefits of each of the frameworks 
identified above is ongoing against the criteria of suitability of contractors on 

Page 17



the framework (including relevant experience), appropriateness of 
price/quality balance and relevance of social value (e.g. the use of local sub-
contractors). Following this analysis the project team will make a 
recommendation to Executive as to the preferred procurement route. 
 

8.6 Subject to the Executive approval it is envisaged that a single stage design 
and build tender package will be sought with a dialogue process with 
contractors helping to minimise risk and maximise value for money before 
making a final appointment.  
 

9.0 Funding applications 
 

9.1 The project team have sought to identify potential sources of funding to 
support the stadium development. The Sport, Art and Leisure Officer is 
working with specialist consultants (Castele), the Cumbria FA and local clubs 
to prepare a funding application to the Football Foundation aimed at securing 
funding for the proposed 3G synthetic pitch for community use. 
 

9.2 To comply with the funding requirements of the Football Foundation it will be 
necessary to appoint their nominated consultants (RFL) to undertake a 
significant element of the work required for the design and planning for the 
proposed 3G synthetic pitch. The fee for this work would be approximately 
£17,750 but should have the potential to attract up to £750k in funding from 
the Football Foundation. This does mean that, subject to a successful funding 
application, it should be possible to construct and commission the proposed 
3G pitch in advance of the completion of the main stadium and therefore 
provide an income stream for the project.  
 

9.3 RLWC 2021 has a capital grants fund from Sport England to support the 
development of rugby league as legacy to the event. An expression of interest 
has been submitted to this fund requesting £1.5m and the stadium project has 
been identified by RLWC 2021 as a key ‘Trailblazer project’ which suggests 
the likelihood of securing financial support is high although it has been made 
clear that given the high demand and competition for funds any award is 
unlikely to be for the full amount requested. A decision should be forthcoming 
early in 2019.  
 

9.4 In addition to the funding applications outlined above, the Sport, Art and 
Leisure Officer is currently exploring opportunities for other, albeit lower value, 
funding applications that may be available to support the development of the 
proposed stadium and related facilities and the legacy that this will provide in 
terms of participation in sport and improved health and well-being. 

 
10.0 Transitional arrangements  

 
10.1 The proposed project timeline requires construction work to commence in 

November 2019 and the demolition of the existing stadium at Borough Park 
will be required at an early stage of the construction project.  This will mean 
that Workington Reds will require an alternative venue from this date, and 

Page 18



potentially from the start of the 2019/20 season, until the new stadium is 
complete in time for the start of the 2021/22 season. 
 

10.2 An obvious solution would be for Workington Reds to share facilities at 
Derwent Park with Workington Town in relation to first team fixtures and 
preliminary discussions have taken place between both clubs to explore this 
opportunity. It is recognised that the shared use of the Derwent Park may give 
rise to issue in relation to the suitability of the playing surface and the 
pressure placed on it by increased use and advice has therefore been sought 
from the FA to identify what work may be required to the playing surface to 
facilitate shared use, albeit on a shared basis. It is recognised that in addition 
to the first team Workington Reds also have commitments to their reserves, 
Under 18’s, Ladies and junior teams. Work in relation to the confirmation of 
suitable interim arrangements for Workington Reds is ongoing and is 
supported by the project team, specifically the Sport, Art and Leisure Officer. 
 

10.3 It will also be necessary for Workington Reds to secure approval from the 
relevant governing bodies for any alternative playing arrangements required 
until the new stadium is available for use.  
 

10.4 To support the Council’s objectives in relation to increased participation in 
sport and improving health and well-being it is considered that it would be 
appropriate to utilise an element of the future SIIF funding to support both 
Workington Town and Workington Reds in developing their community 
programmes aimed at increasing participation in sport at all levels. This will be 
subject to future agreement as to the detail of the scheme and the delegated 
decision making process previously agreed in relation to the SIIF.  
 

10.5 Whilst the Council has no direct relationship with Workington Comets, who 
are a tenant of Workington Town at Derwent Park, it is acknowledged that the 
proposals for a shared stadium could have an implications for the Comets if in 
the future Derwent Park is no longer available as a speedway track, for 
example in the event of the redevelopment of the site for alternative uses. 
Initial discussions have taken place with representatives of Workington 
Comets to understand their future plans and aspirations and what support the 
Council may be able to provide. This dialogue is ongoing.  

 
11.0  Finance/Resource Implications  
 
11.1 The full revenue and capital implications will be set out in a future report which 

considers the full business case for the proposed development. 
 

11.2 Approval is sought for the following revenue expenditure to support further 
design development work to the end of RIBA stage 3 to and submission of a 
planning application.   
 
 

• Design fees and related appointments to end of RIBA Stage 3 - 
£228,603 

 

Page 19



• Intrusive Ground Investigation and Radon Assessment - £101,602 
 

• Planning application fee - £26,000 (approximate pending confirmation 
of design) 

 

• Design and planning fees for the 3G pitch - £17,750 
 

11.3 The total requested for approval from the Strategic Priorities budget is 
£373,955. 

 
12.0  Legal Implications and Risks  
 
12.1 The Council has the power to support the development of a community 

stadium under section 145 Local Government Act 1972 (entertainment 
power), section 144 (power to encourage visitors) and the incidental power in 
section 111, along with the general power of competence in the Localism Act 
2011 to do anything an individual could do. The Council must also exercise its 
powers properly taking into account all relevant considerations, including 
having regard to the funding available to the Council and the impact on 
residents and taxpayers of the cost of the development and the short and long 
term returns. 
 

12.2 It is proposed to establish a new Stadium Company to be responsible for the 
future management and operation of the stadium development. This approach 
ensures that the Council retains control of the stadium asset while 
simultaneously balancing its risk exposure. Establishing a separate company 
will ensure that the stadium is run as a business enterprise with the ability to 
react to commercial opportunities and a focus on long-term economic 
sustainability. Further details will be brought back to Executive in due course.  
 

12.3 It is necessary to agree ‘heads of terms’ with key tenants including 
Workington Town, Workington Reds the NHS and Sellafield Limited. Those 
heads of terms will be negotiated with the benefit of professional advice and 
will subsequently form the basis of future legally binding contracts between 
the parties. Further consideration of the legal implications will be considered 
throughout this process. 
 

12.4 It will be necessary to follow a robust and legally compliant procurement 
process for the procurement of a main contractor to ensure the Council 
achieves the expected level of service and value for money. The process 
must comply with procurement rules and legislation as well as the Council’s 
Contract Procedure Rules and financial regulations. Once appointed, the 
Council will enter into a contract with the contractor, which will set out all of 
the legal obligations for each party. 
 

13.0   Recommendations 
 
13.1 It is recommended that: 

 

Page 20



13.2 Members agree to proceed with proposals to develop a new community 
stadium for Workington on the site of Borough Park/Lonsdale Park, 
Workington subject to: 
 
- Subsequent approval of the full business case including the financial 

business case, operating arrangements and funding arrangements: 
 
- The grant of planning permission. 
 

13.3 The approval of heads of terms with Workington Town and Workington Reds 
in relation to the commercial terms for the use of the stadium be delegated to 
the Corporate Director. 
 

13.4 The approval of heads of terms with the NHS and Sellafield Ltd in relation to 
the rental of office space within the development be delegated to the Head of 
Place Development. 
 

13.5 Members agree to the extension of the appointment of the design team and 
other related appointments related to the development of the design to the 
end of RIBA Stage 3. 
 

13.6 That members agree to the appointment of consultants to undertake intrusive 
grounds investigation works and radon assessment to inform future design 
development work.  
 

13.7 A total of £373,955 is approved from the Strategic Priorities budget made up 
as follows :- 
• £228,603 for Design fees and related appointments 
• £101,602 for Ground investigation works 
• £26,000 for planning fees. 
• £17,750 for design and planning of 3G pitch 
 
 

14.0  Conclusions 
 
14.1 It is considered there is a strong strategic and economic case for the 

development of a new community stadium in Workington. The proposal would 
make a significant contribution to the delivery of all of the Council’s key 
priorities but in particular those relating to strengthening our economy, 
enhancing our towns and improving health and well-being. The proposed 
development would offer significant benefits for not only Workington but 
Allerdale and West Cumbria as a whole, provide first class facilities for 
Workington Town and Workington Town and the opportunity for Allerdale to 
host international sporting events such as the Rugby League World Cup in 
202. It is anticipated that the stadium will directly support an estimated 400 
FTE jobs and indirectly support a further 36. The construction project would 
support and estimated 345 FTE jobs during the course of the project. If 
successful the bid to host the RLWC in 2021 is successful this alone could 
provide a potential benefit to the local economy of up to £7.2m 
 

Page 21



14.2 Whilst further detailed work is required in relating to confirm and approve the 
funding and operating arrangements for the proposed stadium, and planning 
permission has yet to be granted, the work undertaken to date provides a high 
level of confidence that the proposals are viable and that work to further 
develop the design and proposed procurement arrangements is therefore 
appropriate.  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 

 

Page 22



Document is Restricted

Page 23

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Outline Business Case for the Development of Community Stadium for 
Workington  
 
Contents 

1. Project Vision  
 

2. Strategic Business Case  
 

3. Economic Appraisal  
 

4. Comparator Study 
 

5. Site Options 
 

6. Planning Issues  
 

7. High Level Financial Analysis 
 

8. Governance and Management 
 

 

 
 
 
 
  

Page 59



1.0 Project Vision 
 

1.1 Through the establishment of a Project Board the key partners, Allerdale 
Borough Council, Workington Reds AFC and Workington Town RLC have 
agreed the following vision for the development of a new community stadium 
in Workington: 
 
“The new Stadium will be for West Cumbria: accessed and accessible to the 
community every day of the week as well our professional Football and 
Rugby League clubs. 
 
Our shared aspiration is to create a compelling beacon for civic pride:  that 
excites, enthuses and serves the community and in so doing, generates 
sporting ambition and inspiration.  
 
The Stadium will replace Derwent Park and Borough Park respectively as the 
home for Workington Town RLFC and Workington Reds AFC with a 
development that is fundamentally more compatible with a 21st Century, 
family-centred, leisure and sporting experience for supporters, visitors, 
amateur and professional athletes.  
 
The Stadium will be efficient, safe, robust, and attractive.  Above all, it must 
be sustainable with a broad economic base to ensure viability and latest 
technologies to make it financially efficient and minimise its own carbon 
footprint. 
 
The Stadium will be a major component in the lower Derwent Valley 
masterplan alongside the Workington Sports Centre and at the edge of the 
town centre.  It will be a catalyst for stimulating further mixed use 
development that contributes to the economic progress of Workington”. 

  

Page 60



2.0 Strategic Business Case 
 
Strategic Context  
 

2.1 This outline business case sets out the strategic case for the building of a new 
community stadium in Workington, which is a great opportunity for Allerdale, 
West Cumbria and of considerable significance for the wider sub-region and 
beyond. It is important because, on the surface, Allerdale very often seems to 
mirror the county averages in a range of need and opportunity, however, 
when you look beyond district level figures, it soon becomes apparent that 
Allerdale is a place with a huge amount of variation. 
 

2.2 Allerdale is a diverse district with a rich history and stunning landscapes. The 
area has low levels of crime and many of our residents enjoy an excellent 
quality of life. However, Allerdale also faces some significant challenges.   
 

2.3 Overall Allerdale’s ranking in the Indices of Multiple Deprivation is 115 out of 
326 local authorities.  However, this figure masks significant differences at a 
more local level with some considerable areas of deprivation. Average 
household income in Allerdale is below the county and national averages 
however, there are significant variations in average income levels across 
wards which range from £14,288 to £43,640. An estimated 13.8% of 
households have an annual income of less than £10,000.  13.9% of children in 
Allerdale are living in poverty, but once again the figures across the district 
vary considerably with two wards having levels of child poverty above 25%, 
the highest being 30.7%. Qualification levels for the district as a whole are 
broadly in line with regional and national averages.  However, there are again 
distinct variations across the district, two wards having about a third of the 
working age population with no qualifications. 
 

2.4 The building and operation of the Community Stadium provides opportunities 
for Allerdale’s 4,500 enterprises. The main employment sector is ‘wholesale 
and retail trade’ with 6,000 jobs or 16.7% of all jobs; ‘manufacturing’; and 
‘accommodation and food services activities’ (both with 5,000 jobs or 13.9% of 
all jobs). Allerdale has two principal sectors it relies on particularly heavily - 
energy and tourism. The stadium provides opportunities and a focus for both. 
As we know, Allerdale has parts of the district in the Lake District National 
Park to the east and the Solway Coast Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty to 
the North West.  The tourism industry provides 6,530 people who live in the 
area with employment. The stadium provides an opportunity to build on and 
diversify the tourism and destination offer.  
 

2.5 Although the overall claimant rate has tended to be similar to the Cumbria and 
national rates, youth unemployment rates in Allerdale have been well above 
Cumbria and national levels.  19.9% of those aged 16-64 are economically 
inactive or classed as ‘workless’, lower than regional and national rates. The 
downsizing at Sellafield (and the possible long term postponement of the 
Nuclear new build), means diversification of the economy is critical if 
employment rates are to improve. 
 

Page 61



Spatial Context  
 

2.6 The district of Allerdale covers an area of 1,242 square km. The population 
density is low, reflecting the rural and small town nature of the district.  The 
average population density is 78 people per square km which is marginally 
more densely populated than the county average (74 people / square km), but 
much more sparsely populated than the national average (England and Wales 
380 people per square km).  
 

2.7 Allerdale’s population is largely concentrated in the south west around 
Workington, Maryport and Cockermouth where population density is 450 
people per square kilometre. By contrast the Solway Plain has a population 
density of just 50 people per square kilometre.  72% of Allerdale’s residents 
live in what are classed as ‘rural’ areas (54% across Cumbria; 18% across 
England and Wales). 
 

2.8 Allerdale is an area with a rich natural environment.  Much of the district 
enjoys stunning scenery, with the Lake District National Park World Heritage 
Site encompassing part of the district to the east including the town of 
Keswick, an important tourist destination.  The coastal area to the north west 
of the district is part of the Solway Coast Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
and Hadrian’s Wall World Heritage Site.  The north of Allerdale is a 
predominantly rural area with small villages and three principal market towns - 
Aspatria, Silloth and Wigton.  The towns of Workington (the largest town in the 
district) and Maryport are located on the west coast and have a rich industrial 
history. 
 
Health Context 
 

2.9 The estimated population of Allerdale in 2016 was 97,000.  Data from the 
Census 2011 shows that the population of Allerdale rose from 93,487 to 
96,400 (2001-2011), a rise of 3.1%.  This small growth (less than half the rate 
of increase of England & Wales) was driven largely by in-migration to the area 
rather than natural increase.  
 

2.10 Health and well-being is influenced by a wide range of social, economic and 
environmental factors. The role of lifestyle factors, such as physical activity, 
alcohol, diet and smoking are well known to play a significant role with the 
community stadium providing a new focus for physical activity. Average life 
expectancies for Allerdale residents have improved over time, but remain lower 
than the England and Cumbrian averages. Overall life expectancy for men is 
78.6 years, less than the average for England (79.5 years), whilst average life 
expectancy for women is 82.3 years, less than the average for England 
(83.1years). Those people who live in the most deprived areas tend to have the 
worst health and looking across the district, life expectancy is 9.3 years lower for 
men and 8.3 years lower for women in the most deprived areas of Allerdale than 
in the least deprived areas. 
 

2.11 Life expectancy at birth figures for women in Allerdale have risen from 81.8 
years (2009-11) to 82.3 years (2014-16), but are classed as significantly below 

Page 62



the England average of 83.1 years (2014-16).  Data for 2011-15 by ward shows 
that 5 wards are significantly below the England average (Moss Bay 75.3; 
Ewanrigg 77.9; Netherhall 78.5; Moorclose 78.8; St. Johns 79.6; Silloth 80.4). 
 

2.12 Being obese can lead to a number of serious health problems as well as shorten 
life expectancy.  In 2016/17 the percentage of adults in Allerdale aged 18+ 
classified as overweight or obese was 64.7%.  Although this is nearly two thirds 
of the population, it is in line with the England average of 61.3%. In Allerdale the 
prevalence of overweight (including obese) children in Reception in 2016/17 was 
28.1%, worse than the England average 22.6%. The prevalence of overweight 
(including obese) in Year 6 children in 2016/17 was 34.1% similar to the England 
average of 34.2% and show a gradual increase in excess weight in children in 
Year 6 (10-11 years). In Cumbria the average increase in the percentage of 
overweight and obese children from starting Reception to Year 6 is 44%. 
However, against the England trend the percentage of overweight or obese 
children in Reception year is increasing, so if current trends continue, the 
forecasting for these children as they leave Year 6 is a cause for concern. There 
are clearly opportunities to use the community stadium as a catalyst to 
increasing participation in sport for young people and promoting healthy eating. 
 

2.13 Smoking is recognised as the single greatest avoidable cause of premature 
death across Cumbria. Smoking is harmful to health not only to smokers but also 
to people around them. It accounts for 1 in 6 of all deaths in England. In 
Cumbria, the estimated number of deaths attributable to smoking in adults over 
35 is 271 per 100,000 (2014-16). This is in line with the England average of 272 
per 100,000. The alcohol specific mortality rate for males in Allerdale for 2014-16 
at 19.8 (per 100,000 population) is similar to the average for England (14.2 per 
100,000). The alcohol specific mortality for females over the same period was 
10.5 (per 100,000), similar to the England average of 6.8 (per 100,000). 
 

Strategic Case  

2.14 A strategic analysis has been undertaken to determine the potential components 
to develop a West Cumbria Community Stadium, and how they can be put 
together coherently to create a long term legacy to deal with some of the issues 
set out above. 
 

2.15 There are many community stadiums across the United Kingdom. All have 
different ways of engaging with the community but are similar in that they provide 
facilities and services to local communities over and above their ‘primary’ 
sporting facilities (which are often provided to enable professional/semi-
professional football, rugby league and/or rugby union matches to the played).  
 

2.16 A visit was undertaken by representatives of the Council and both clubs to a 
number of other facilities to see how they are managed and developed, and to 
see how the goal of many of these stadia is to become an accessible hub in 
terms of geographic accessibility and affordability for the community. They range 
from a base for outreach community sports initiatives to full sports villages. 
These facilities are available to residents from all backgrounds and abilities 

Page 63



(including young people and adults with disabilities), as well as local schools, 
colleges and clubs. They can also provide facilities for elite sports people from 
the local area. 
 

2.17 There have been a number of innovative new approaches to provide the 
‘community’ element of the stadium. Healthcare and education provision have 
been used to generate an income stream and are provided as part of the wider 
stadium complex. Successful examples of this are with the PCTs at both Preston 
and Warrington and with higher / further education colleges at Headingley and 
Hull. The new stadium at York has a variety of community and commercial uses. 
 

2.18 Many community stadiums have received support from councils. The Local 
Government Act 2000 gives councils wellbeing powers to use resources on 
projects with tangible community/economic benefits. This support has ranged 
from assistance with infrastructure to direct funding. Where councils have got 
behind stadium projects, exciting community focused initiatives have been 
delivered with impressive outputs for the community. However, State Aid rules 
strictly prohibit councils from giving money (or state aid) to other bodies. 
 

2.19 To develop the strategic case, analysis has been undertaken to determine the 
potential components that could make up the facility mix of the Community 
Stadium. This is essential from a project affordability and commercial viability 
perspective. Furthermore, a clear evidence base demonstrating need is also 
essential to make a robust planning case. 
 

2.20 In assessing the potential options that could comprise a Community Stadium it is 
important to consider the criteria they will be judged against. The principles 
established for the delivery of the project are set out below.  
 

 Provide a modern stadium shared between Workington Town and Workington 
Reds that meets minimum league requirements 

 
 Maximise opportunity for the people of Allerdale and West Cumbria and its 

visitors 
 

 Maximise community use including sport, education and health / wellbeing 
 

 Office base for 300 workers from the nuclear industry 
 

 Be commercially sustainable, the project must result in a viable business 
venture 

 
 To be a catalyst for the wider regeneration of Workington and Allerdale 

 
2.21 The work undertaken in evaluating the potential for the community stadium 

concludes that the project offers a wide ranging wealth of benefits and 
opportunities for the community and that the principal component of the project 
are: 
 

Page 64



 Core stadium with minimum capacity of 8,000 (to meet the aspirations for a 
West Cumbria Super League team) with an opportunity to extend for one-off 
events. 
 

 Space for NHS partners. 
 

 An augmentation of the West Cumbria conference offer and other income 
generating activities. 
 

 Commercial office accommodation. 
 

 3G pitch adjacent to main stadium. 
 
 

2.22 As a major community-based project, West Cumbria’s Community Stadium could 
generate a variety of potential strategic, economic, social and other benefits. 
These include the following: 

 The project could help build a sense of pride and involvement from the local 
community, particularly with regards to the supporters of Workington Reds 
FC, Workington Town and the wider communities (if the stadium is successful 
in actively engaging local residents). 
 

 Increasing access to sports and leisure activities is a key priority of the 
Council and many of its partners. This is an important goal as participation in 
sport and physical activity is well recognised as helping to improve physical 
and mental health and wellbeing. The poorer health outcomes and higher than 
national average obesity levels seen in Allerdale are a clear rationale for a 
focus on this area. 
 

 The Community Stadium will enable local and regionally based professional 
(and potentially elite) sports people to train in state-of-the art facilities on their 
‘door step’, rather than having to travel long distances to other facilities. 
 

 Provide a base for the Rugby League World Cup in 2021 with the potential to 
host a team and up to three games. The RLWC advise that each group game 
is worth between £2.4m to the local economy therefore providing a potential 
benefit of up to £7.2 m. 
 

 Allerdale’s visitor economy is of regional and national significance, and is 
therefore a key strategic policy priority for the Council and partners such as 
the LEP. With the inclusion of new conference and other hospitality facilities 
(within the Stadium), the project could serve to assist in diversifying Allerdale’s 
visitor offer. This will help broaden the market profile of the area, strengthen 
year-round tourism demand (particularly if the new stadium attracts both 
leisure and business tourists), and generally support the on-going success of 
Allerdale’s and West Cumbria’s visitor economy. 
 

 The new Community Stadium will create a number of opportunities for local 

Page 65



people to become trained and skilled within specialist areas such as sports 
management and administration, sports development, marketing and 
promotions, and conference and catering management. There are many other 
educational and training opportunities, including forging effective links and 
learning opportunities with the two universities in Cumbria, local colleges and 
schools. 
 

 Once a site has been identified for the Community Stadium, there are possible 
regeneration benefits which could be created as part of the wider Derwent 
Valley Masterplan. The new hotel, coffee shop and pub/restaurant is building 
significant investor confidence in the area. 

 
 Jobs will be created directly within the Community Stadium and the ancillary 

facilities, and employment will be supported in Workington, West Cumbria and 
the wider region through the injection of additional income into the local, sub-
regional and regional economies via the users of the Community Stadium. 
Further to the direct and indirect employment supported by the on-going 
operations of the Community Stadium, a significant number of temporary jobs 
would be created and supported during the construction phase of its 
development. In the next section of this report, we provide an initial estimate 
of the possible construction and on-going economic impacts. 

  

Page 66



3.0 Economic Appraisal  
 

3.1 The new West Cumbria stadium offers the potential for direct and indirect 
economic benefits for Workington, Allerdale, West Cumbria and the wider 
County and North West region.  
 

3.2 As discussed previously, the facilities are as follows: 
 

 Core stadium with minimum capacity of 8,000 (to meet the aspirations for a 
West Cumbria Super League team) with an opportunity to extend for one-off 
events  
 

 Space for NHS partners 
 

 An augmentation of the West Cumbria conference offer and other income 
generating activities 
 

 Office accommodation for Sellafield 
 

 3G pitch adjacent to main stadium 
 

3.3 As a major community-based project, the proposed Community Stadium is 
likely to have a positive impact which will benefit local people, businesses and 
visitors, as well as potentially the wider economy (if of a significant scale with 
regional connectivity). All estimated economic outputs and outcomes are 
based on this assumption. 
 

3.4 In order to support the economic case, there is a need to quantify the possible 
economic impacts of the project. Most capital projects will have both positive 
and negative impacts. In light of this, there is a need to reflect this in order to 
assess the additional impact (or ‘additionally’ of the project). HM Treasury’s 
‘Green Book’ states that an impact arising from an intervention (e.g. grant or 
other financial support) is additional if it would not have occurred in the 
absence of the intervention. Given this, the approach adopted for this 
preliminary economic impact assessment is in line with guidance provided 
within the Green Book. 
 

3.5 To identify the potential ‘Total Net Additional Effects’ which could be 
generated by the new Community Stadium, the following have been 
investigated in relation to each of the facilities which could be part of any new 
Community Stadium destination: 
 

 The Gross Direct Effects: This consists of total spending made by visitors to 
the facility (including visitor spending outside of the venue - in the local area - 
during their trip). 
 

 (Less) Leakage: This reflects the proportion of the gross direct effects which 
benefit those outside of the area of benefit (which in this case is Cumbria 
given the potential scale and impact of the Community Stadium). 

Page 67



 
 (Less) Deadweight: This reflects the outcomes that would have occurred 

without the development of the facility. 
 

 (Less) Displacement / Substitution: Displacement and substitution are 
closely related concepts. Where the outputs of the proposed facility result in 
reduced outputs elsewhere in the area of benefit, displacement occurs (e.g. 
the displacement of certain events from other venues in Cumbria to the new 
stadium). Related to the displacement concept is substitution, which is the 
effect whereby a firm substitutes one activity for a similar one (e.g. recruiting a 
jobless person while another employee loses a job). 
 

 (Plus) Economic Multiplier: Economic multiplier effects involve further 
economic activity (e.g., jobs, expenditure or income) associated with 
additional local income and local supplier purchases. The multiplier reflects 
therefore the income created across the regional economy through the 
injection of the facility’s gross expenditure (as discussed above). 
 

 The Total Net Additional Effect is then used to derive an indication of the 
(‘in-direct’) employment supported. This is achieved by adjusting the figure to 
take account of the proportion spent on salaries, wages and other payroll 
costs, and then dividing this by the average annual earnings in the region. 
 

 Direct and indirect employment supported is then estimated. 
 

Gross Direct Effects 

3.6 In order to estimate the possible Gross Direct Effects of the Community 
Stadium project, we have made the assumptions as detailed in the following 
table. 
 

Table 1: Proposed Community Stadium Gross Direct Effect Assumptions 

Facility component INPUT Outputs (£) 

Stadium  Assumed ‘match day’ income – gate receipts, season 
tickets, programmes, general catering, and hospitality 
income. 

 Assumed ‘non-match day’ income – conference and 
function income. 

 This figure excludes non visitor-related income (e.g., central 
funding from leagues, sponsorship, pouring rights, 
advertising income, etc.). 

 3G pitch 

 
 

 

 

NHS site including 
pharmacy 

 Assumed income from the tenants  

Page 68



 
Leakage 
 

3.7 In considering the potential proportion of outputs that will benefit those outside 
of Cumbria, we have reflected on the following: 
 
 The primary users and beneficiaries of the Community Stadium project 

will be local residents, and – in relation to the office space – local 
businesses and other organisations (and the employees of these 
tenants). 

 
 It is expected that the Community Stadium project will be planned to 

optimise local, sub- regional and regional benefits. For example, the 
Community Stadium’s supply chain (of supplies of goods and services) 
will predominantly be local and sub-regional. 

 
 The majority of staff would be expected to live in West Cumbria and the 

wider region. 
 

3.8 In the light of the above, the leakage of the Gross Direct Effects outside of 
Cumbria is likely to be very low. To reflect this, this preliminary economic 
appraisal assumes a leakage rate of 10%. According to English Partnerships, 
assuming such a leakage effect is reasonable where the majority of benefits 
will go to people living within the target area (which in this case is Cumbria). 
 

3.9 In considering the possible deadweight of this project, we have assessed the 
following: 
 
 

 Without this project, Workington Town and Reds would continue to 
operate within their existing venues (or alternative facilities in the 
town), albeit with lower attendances in the case of the football and 
rugby league clubs. 

 

Grade A office space  Assumed income from office tenants  
 
 Assumes  people spending an average of per week 

(for 48 weeks each year). 

 
 
 

‘Off site’ expenditure  In addition it is likely to be some ‘off site’ expenditure during 
their trip (e.g. spending by Community Stadium users and 
visitors in local bars, restaurants and cafes, shops, and 
evening entertainment, as well as on regional public 
transport such as buses and trains). 

 It has been assumed that the total Gross Direct Effects are 
increased by 20% to reflect this wider spending. 

Above figures 
increased by 
20% 

Page 69



 The Community Stadium has the potential to bring together – on a 
single site – a wide range of community sports and commercial 
facilities which could create a unique destination in the area. 

 
3.10 Based on the above, we have assumed that the deadweight for this project 

will be 25%. 
 

3.11 Displacement and substitution 
 

3.12 As with all major sporting and leisure venues of this type, there will be some 
displacement and substitution, as a number of users will be diverted way from 
existing sports facilities in the area (even though many of the facilities at the 
Community Stadium will be servicing an identified need which is currently not 
being met by the existing range of facilities). 
 

3.13 Given this, a figure of 10% has been assumed to reflect the impact of 
displacement and substitution. This figure is at the low end of English 
Partnerships’ benchmarks for the effects of displacement and substitution, 
recognising the assumption that there will only be limited 
displacement/substitution effects. 
 

3.14 Economic Multiplier 
 

3.15 Because of the likely economic connectivity and local linkages (e.g., 
employment of staff from the local area / sub-region), and the creation of local, 
sub-regional and regional supply chains, additional income will be generated 
by the Community Stadium within the local and regional economies. 
 

3.16 Reflecting this, an economic ‘multiplier effect’ of 1.7 has been assumed. This 
assumes strong local supply linkages and income effects. 
 

3.17 Note: Additionally tool source: English Partnerships (2004) Additionally Guide 
– A Standard Approach to Assessing the Additional Impact of Projects 
(prepared by AMION Consulting on behalf of English Partnerships) 
 
Direct employment effects 
 

3.18 This comprises the people that will be employed directly within the Community 
Stadium and the other facilities. At this stage of the project, it remains an 
estimate of direct employment, as detailed in the following table. 

 

 

 

 

Page 70



Table 2: Community Stadium direct employment assumption (‘full-time 
equivalent’ jobs) 
 
 

 

Indirect employment effects 
 

3.19 In addition to those people employed directly within the Community Stadium 
and the wider facilities, there will be jobs supported within the wider area 
through the spending of users and visitors to the destination. 
 

3.20 In order to estimate the potential Net Additional Effects which are spent on 
payroll (i.e., wages, salaries and related costs), a figure of 35% of the Net 
Additional Effects has been assumed. To then convert this figure into an 
estimate of indirect FTEs (which could be supported by the Community 
Stadium), the proportion of Net Additional Effects spent on payroll has been 
divided by an assumed average payroll cost of £25,000. 
 
Construction employment effects 
 

3.21 Temporary construction jobs would also be created, providing a valuable 
boost to the area’s economy. Depending on how long it takes for the UK 
economy to fully recover from the recent recession, this may be a significant 
impact (particularly if construction sector output growth remains slow for some 
time). 

Facility 
component 

Assumpti
ons 

Outputs 
(FTES) 

Stadium 
including 3G 
pitch 

 Assumed employment within WRAFC, WTRFLC, the Stadium 
Management Company, and catering permanent, part-time, 
and casual staff. 

 
 Based on initial estimates, it is possible that there would be 10 

full-time equivalents (’FTEs’) employed within the football club 
and 10 FTEs within the rugby club plus 8 across Cumberland 
FA/RL 

 
 In terms of the Stadium Management Company, the financial 

modelling suggests a total of 16 FTEs. 
 
 Catering - permanent, part time and casual -10 

54 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

NHS  It is estimated that 50 staff will be employed 50 

Office space   Assumes 100% occupancy of 2800 sq. m. of net lettable 
office space. 300 

Page 71



 
3.22 The construction employment effects will be related to the total cost of the 

development and the length of time the development will take to bring to 
fruition. Below are the build and fit-out cost estimates for each component of 
the Community Stadium: 
 
• Stadium including 3G pitch and changing facilities: £15.45million. 
 
• Flexible office space and NHS space: £9.55m million. 
 

3.23 In order to illustrate the potential construction period employment effects, we 
have assumed that £1m construction spend creates 13.3 FTEs. In addition to 
the direct jobs created through the construction phase of the project, there will 
be indirect and induced employment resulting from the construction activity. 
 
Potential outputs (by potential facility) 
 

3.24 Based on the above assumptions, the following table illustrates the possible 
economic outputs which could be created by each facility. It should be noted 
that the possible outputs are annual outputs, with the exception of the 
construction outputs which are temporary (during the Community Stadium’s 
construction period only). The assumption is 50/50 split across construction 
jobs for office space and NHS. 
 
Table 3: Community Stadium potential economic outputs by facility 

 

 

 

Facility 

 

 

Gross Direct 
Effects (£) 

 

 

Net Additional 
Effects (£) 

Construction 
Employment 
(temporary 
effects) (FTEs) 

 

Direct 
Employment 
(FTEs) 

 

Indirect 
Employment 
(FTEs) 

 

Stadium 

205 54 18 

 

Flexible office 
space 

64 300 10 

NHS space 64 50 8 

 

TOTAL 

333 404 36 

 

Page 72



4.0 Comparator Study  
 
4.1 In developing proposals for a new community stadium for Workington it was 

considered important to consider how the project can be informed by the 
experience of similar developments elsewhere.  Representatives of the 
Council and the sporting clubs visited York Community Stadium, which is 
currently under construction, as well as existing stadia at Leigh Sports Village 
and Warrington. A brief overview of these developments is set out below: 
 
York Community Stadium  
 

4.2 York Community Stadium is a council-led development that will provide a new 
football and rugby stadium for professional and community sport and leisure 
facilities for the city of York as part of a wider leisure and retail development. 
The development is currently under-construction and due for completion in 
summer 2019. When complete the stadium complex will include: 
 

 an 8,000 capacity all seated stadium for York City FC and York City 
Knights RLFC with a grass hybrid playing pitch 

 a new IMAX cinema with 14 screens 
 a community hub, including a library and the community offices for 

York’s sports clubs 
 York against Cancer retail unit and offices 
 NHS outpatient services 
 new swimming facilities, gym, dance studio and a sports hall with 

spectator seating 
 retail and restaurants 
 catering and hospitality areas 

 
4.3 The development site was owned by York City Council and was the site of an 

outdated leisure pool and athletics track and was funded from a range of 
sources. The site was located close to an existing out-of-centre retail 
development and the City Council granted planning permission for further 
retail development as an enabling development for the stadium which, through 
a S106 planning obligation, secured a capital contribution towards the stadium 
development. A further capital receipt was secured through the sale of part of 
the site for the cinema development. The development benefited from a grant 
from the Football Stadia Improvement Fund and the Council also made a 
capital contribution funded through prudential borrowing.  
 

4.4 The procurement approach adopted by York City Council for the development 
of the York Community Stadium to award a single contract to design, build 
and operate the stadium. It is understood that this approach led to some 
challenges particularly in linking the design and build of the development to 
the management of future operation of the complex. The contract was 
awarded to a consortium led by Greenwich Leisure Limited who will operate 
the complex on behalf of the City Council. Greenwich Leisure Limited have 
subsequently awarded a contract to York City Council to manage the stadium 
although GLL will operate the swimming pool and leisure centre under their 
‘Better’ brand.  

Page 73



 
Leigh Sports Village 
 

4.5 Leigh Sports Village is a multi-use sports, retail education and housing 
development. At the heart of the development is a 12,000 capacity stadium 
which is home to Leigh Centurions Rugby League Club as well as Manchester 
United’s Women’s, Under 23 and Under 19 teams. The playing surface at the 
stadium is a grass hybrid pitch. The stadium incorporates NHS facilities, a 
pharmacy, office accommodation as well as hospitality and conference 
facilities. The site was owned by Wigan Council and the development was a 
key regeneration project for the Council. 
 

4.6 In addition to the stadium the Leigh Sports Village complex includes the 
following elements: 
 

 Leisure centre including 25m swimming pool and sports hall 
 Multi-use floodlit 3G synthetic and grass pitches 
 400 m synthetic running track and club house 
 Morrison’s supermarket 
 Hotel  
 Further education and sixth form colleges 

 
4.7 The stadium has hosted pop concerts as well as a Rugby League World Cup 

in group match in 2013 and a Rugby League Challenge Cup semi-final.  
 

4.8 The commercial development at the site contributed to the funding for the 
stadium and sporting development and the viability of the overall 
development. A capital receipt was received from the sale by Leigh Harriers 
amateur athletics club of an outdated athletics stadium elsewhere in the town 
and the Leigh Harriers now occupy the athletics track and clubhouse which 
form part of the sports village.  
 

4.9 The stadium, athletics stadium and clubhouse, swimming pool and leisure 
centre as well as the sports pitches are owned by Wigan Council and 
operated by Leigh Sports Village Limited. Leigh Sports Village Limited is a 
private limited company wholly owned by Wigan Council.  
 
Halliwell Jones Stadium, Warrington  
 

4.10 The Halliwell Jones Stadium is the home of Warrington Wolves Rugby League 
Club and was built in 2003 as a replacement for the former out-dated rugby 
league stadium at Wilderspool which was located elsewhere within the town. 
 

4.11 The stadium, which has a capacity of 15,000 with both seating and standing, 
is located on the site of a former brewery and was funded by Tesco through a 
planning agreement relating to the development of a new superstore at the 
site.  
 

Page 74



4.12 The stadium is primarily a rugby league stadium but has hosted football 
matches being a host venue for the Women’s 2005 Euro Championship and 
hosting Liverpool Reserves between 2007 and 2009. The stadium provides 
conference and events facilities and is a wedding venue. The stadium also 
provides accommodation for the Warrington Wolves Charitable Foundation 
which undertakes a range of community work based at the stadium. 
 

4.13 The Warrington stadium is less comparable to the proposals for a community 
stadium that the other stadia visited at York and Leigh both in terms of scale 
and the lack of direct Council involvement in either the development or 
operation of the stadium.  
 
Key Points  
 

4.14 The visits to the three stadia highlighted above and discussions with key 
personnel involved in this projects identified three key themes that is it 
considered to take into account in relation to the future development of 
Workington Community Stadium.  
 

 Relationships: Developing and maintaining relationships with key 
stakeholders and users of the stadium is critical to the success of the 
development. 

 Governance/Management: The correct operating model allows the 
sporting clubs to focus on results on the pitch and for the operating 
company to focus on the management and development of the facility. 

 Commercial Strategy: It is important to have a clear strategy that 
enables the stadium operating company to take advantage of 
commercial opportunities to ensure that they remain financially viable. 

 
4.15 There is an obvious link between the development of a new stadium and 

health and well-being and therefore in functional terms the location of NHS 
and other health related development within the development. The rental 
streams associated with the provision of these facilities also make a 
significant contribution to the ongoing financial viability of the stadium.  
 

4.16 It is also clear that for any new stadium development to be financially viable it 
must offer more than a venue for the sporting clubs on match days and must 
therefore be available for use for a range of activities seven days a week. 
Weddings, parties and other functions, conference, meeting and training 
facilities were all key elements of the stadia visited. The ability to use space 
flexibly was important in maximising the range of activities that can be 
provided. 
 

4.17 Although details of the contractual arrangements in place at the stadia visited 
were commercially confidential some general guidance was provided in terms 
of the type of commercial arrangements that are typically in place between the 
stadium operating companies and users. This included the sporting clubs 
hosted, and this guidance has been helpful in informing the development of 
the detailed business case and proposed operating model.  

  

Page 75



5.0 Site Options 
 
5.1 An appraisal of the site options was undertaken by the project board to 

identify potential sites and agree criteria to be used for the selection of a 
preferred site.  
 
Identification of Site Options  

 

5.2 A fundamental requirement of both sporting clubs is that the preferred site for 
a new shared stadium should be located in Workington.  An initial high level 
assessment identified the following sites as suitable for further consideration: 
 
 Land at Oldside 
 Former Moorclose Sport Centre and adjacent land. 
 Land at Mossbay bounded by Mossbay Road/Annie Pit Lane, Solway 

Road 
 Land at Lillyhall West (adjacent to A596)  
 Land at Lillyhall North (adjacent to A595) 
 Derwent Park  
 Borough Park and adjacent land  
 
Selection Criteria 
 

5.3 To assist in the identification of a preferred site the project board agreed a 
number of high level site selection criteria and weighting system as set out 
below. 
 

Selection Criteria Key Points of Consideration Weighting  
from 100% 

Deliverability 
Ease of delivery…? 
…… by 2021? 

Planning issues.  
Site ownership/control 

25% 

Value for Money 
Capital and Operating 

Cost of enabling works 
Operational Costs & Income potential 

25% 

Attractiveness to 
Users 
…..i.e. Spectators, 
Sponsors, other 
tenants  

What will generate most income 12.5% 

Usability 
…..to Reds & Town.   

Playing Surface maintenance/resilience 
Any site constraints on facilities 
Simplify Operational use 

12.5% 

Regeneration Value Strategic fit (including to potential grant 
funders)  

25% 

Page 76



..benefits as part of 
strategy for 
Workington & wider 

 
5.4 Although not the primary driver for the development of a new stadium the 

project board were mindful that the Council were developing a bid to host the 
Rugby League World Cup (RLWC) in 2021 and that such a bid was likely to 
be dependent on the development of a new stadium. It was therefore 
considered appropriate for the ability of a site to support the development of a 
new stadium in time for the RLWC in 2021 to be taken into account.  
 
Initial Site Assessment  
 

5.5 Green Swallow Architects were commissioned to prepare sketch schemes for 
the site with the aim of determining whether the sites were capable of 
accommodating a stadium footprint of 8000 capacity and associated works. 
This exercise effectively ruled out the site at Lillyhall West and Borough Park 
unless the adjacent land could be acquired. 
 

5.6 An initial assessment of the remaining sites against the agreed criteria was 
undertaken by a small team comprising the Project Manager, the Estates 
Manager and representatives of Green Swallow and Walton Goodland land 
agents.  
 

5.7 This assessment was based on location knowledge and professional 
judgement taking into account that no site investigations had been 
commissioned and no formal consultation undertaken with the highway 
authority or other statutory bodies such as the Environment Agency.  
 

5.8 Based on initial discussions with the landowner it was assumed that the land 
adjacent to Borough Park could be acquired at terms acceptable to the 
Council and therefore this was included as an option for consideration.  
 

5.9 The initial scoring for the site options considered was reviewed and agreed by 
the project board and the agreed scoring and weighting is set out below. 
 

                Site 
 
Criteria 

Oldside 
?/10   
W% 

Moorclose 
?/10   W% 

Lillyhall 
N. 
?/10  W 
%  

Moss 
bay 
?/10  
W% 

Derwent 
Park 
?/10 
W% 

Borough 
Park  
?/10  
W% 

Deliverability          
25% 

5         
12.5 

6          15 6           15 4       10  5      12.5 6           
15 

Value For 
Money     25% 

5         
12.5 

6          15 7           
17.5 

6       15 5      12.5 7        
17.5 

Page 77



User 
Attractiveness 
12.5% 

2           
2.5 

2          2.5 5             6 5       
6.25 

7      8.75 9     
11.25 

Usability 
12.5% 

6           
7.5 

4           5  8           10  6        
7.5 

7      8.75 7      8.75 

Regeneration 
Value  25% 

1           
2.5 

3          7.5 5           
12.5 

5      
12.5 

7      17.5 8        20 

Weighted  
Score in %            

37.5          45.0 
         

58.75 
      

51.25        60.0 
         

72.5 
 
 

5.10 The scoring and identification of Borough Park and the adjacent land was 
agreed by the Project Board. 
 
Review and Moderation  
 

5.11 The agreed scoring was subsequently reviewed by the Councils internal 
steering group for the stadium project and revised scoring is set out below. 
The changes made did not impact on the identification of Borough Park and 
the adjacent land as the preferred site. 
 

                Site 
 
Criteria 

Oldside 
?/10   
W% 

Moorclose 
?/10   W% 

Lillyhall 
N. 
?/10  W 
%  

Moss 
bay 
?/10  
W% 

Derwent 
Park 
?/10 
W% 

Borough 
Park  
?/10  
W% 

Deliverability          
25% 

5         
12.5 

6          15 6           15 4       10  5      12.5 6           
15 

Value For 
Money     25% 

5         
12.5 

6          15 7           
17.5 

6       15 5      12.5 5        
12.5 

User 
Attractiveness 
12.5% 

2           
2.5 

4          5 4             5 5       
6.25 

7      8.75 9     
11.25 

Usability 
12.5% 

6           
7.5 

4           5  8           10 6        
7.5 

7      8.75 7      8.75 

Regeneration 
Value  25% 

3          
7.5 

3          7.5 5           
12.5 

5      
12.5 

6      15 7        
17.5 

Weighted  
Score in %            

42.5          47.5          60 
      

51.25        57.5          65 

Page 78



 

Preferred Site  

5.12 The site assessment based on the agreed criteria and weighting identified 
Borough Park and the adjacent land as the preferred site for the development 
of a new shared stadium for Workington.  
 

5.13 The preferred site scored highly in relation to the regeneration value, 
particularly in relation to the potential for the development to contribute to the 
wider regeneration of this part of the Lower Derwent Valley. The proximity of 
the site to Workington town centre was also considered to be a particular 
benefits both in terms of the attractiveness of the site to potential users and 
the potential to support existing town centre uses. Vehicular access to the site 
was considered to be relatively straightforward, in comparison to Derwent 
Park for example where the existing access is highly constrained, and the site 
is easily accessible via public transport.  
 

  

Page 79



6.0 Planning Issues 
 

6.1 The proposals for the development of a new community stadium in 
Workington incorporate a number of related uses as an integral part of the 
development including a multi-sports stadium venue, hospitality and 
conference facilities, health and medical provision as well as office 
accommodation.  
 

6.2 The Council will be required to consider and determine a planning application 
for the proposed development.  The procedures for dealing with development 
proposed by local authorities are set out in the Town and Country Planning 
General Regulations 1992 (as amended) and the basic principle is that local 
authorities must make planning applications in the same way as any other 
person and must follow the same procedures as would apply to applications 
by others. Like all planning applications an application for the proposed 
stadium must be determined in accordance with the development plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. The development plan to be taken 
into account is the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) adopted in July 2014 but other 
material planning policy considerations include the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) and the emerging Allerdale Local Plan (Part 2). 
 

6.3 A summary of the main planning policy issues to be considered is set out 
below. These issues relate both to the range and nature of uses proposed as 
part of the development and the location of the preferred site.  
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
 

6.4 A revised NPPF was published in July 2018. The policies of this Framework 
are a material planning consideration to be taking into account in the 
determination of the planning application for the development.  
 

6.5 The NPPF does not contain any policies that relate specifically to the 
development of new stadia however a key theme of the policy approach is to 
promote healthy and safe communities and places which promote social 
interaction, are safe and accessible and enable and support healthy lifestyles. 
Planning policies and decisions should plan positively for the provision of 
shared spaces and community facilities, which could include sports venues. 
The proposals for the stadium development are fully consistent with these 
national planning policy aims.  
 

6.6 The NPPF also seeks to ensure the vitality of town centres and planning 
policies and decisions support the role that town centres play at the heart of 
local communities. The proposed stadium includes elements, in particular the 
sporting and leisure provision and office development, are considered to be 
town centre uses. Where, as in this case, it is not possible to identify town 
centre sites which are capable of accommodating the scale and type of 
development required the preference is to identify edge of centre or out of 

Page 80



centre sites that are well connected to the town centre.   Although not within 
the town centre boundary as defined by Allerdale Local Plan the preferred site 
is well located in relation to Workington town centre and benefits from good 
existing pedestrian links with significant potential for the town centre to benefit 
from the increased activity and footfall that would be generated by the 
proposed development.  
 

6.7 Other key themes within the NPPF which are of relevance to the stadium 
proposals are those relating to supporting economic growth, promoting 
sustainable transport, making effective use of land, achieving well-designed 
places, ensuring that flood risk is managed and that development should 
contribute to and enhance the natural, local and historic environment.  
 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1)  
 

6.8 There a number of detailed policies of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) which 
are relevant to the stadium proposals but which follow consistent themes to 
those of the NPPF set out above including those relating to town centre uses, 
sports and leisure provision, impact on ecological and heritage interests and 
achieving high quality design.  
 

6.9 Local Plan policy relating to the management of flood risk and surface water 
drainage is consistent with national planning policy and seeks to avoid 
development in locations that would be at risk of flooding or increase the risk 
of flooding elsewhere. This is an issue that will need to be addressed given 
the location of the preferred site is adjacent to the River Derwent. The 
proposed new community stadium will largely be built on the site of the 
existing football stadium at Borough Park. There is no history of flooding 
having impacted on the existing stadium and this part of the site is designated  
within Flood Zone 1, the lowest area of risk in terms of flooding. It is 
acknowledged however that the adjacent land, the former Lonsdale Park, is 
within the higher Flood Zones 2 and 3 and is in part within the functional flood 
plain.  Whilst there may be some limited encroachment into the higher flood 
risk area to accommodate the larger footprint of the new stadium compared to 
the existing stadium at Borough Park initial discussions with the Environment 
Agency have indicated that it should be possible to manage any flood risk 
associated with this aspect of the development. The proposals of playing 
pitches and open space on the remainder of the site are less sensitive uses in 
terms of flood risk although careful consideration will need to be given to the 
mitigation of flood risk associated with these uses.  
 

6.10 The issue of flood risk will be fully addressed through the planning application 
process in consultation with the Environment Agency. A flood risk assessment 
will be required as a key component of the planning application submission to 
demonstrate that the key policy tests of ensuring that the development will not 

Page 81



be at an unacceptable risk of flooding or increase the risk of flooding 
elsewhere can be satisfied.  
 

6.11 In relation to the theme of promoting sustainable transport there is a policy 
requirement for new development to be located in areas which have safe and 
convenient access to public transport so as to reduce the need to travel using 
private motor vehicles. In this respect the preferred site for the stadium 
development is considered to be highly sustainable location with direct access 
to dedicated pedestrian and cycle routes and in close proximity to existing bus 
routes and a short walk from the train station.  
 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 2)  
 

6.12 The Allerdale Local Plan Part 2 Pre-submission draft was approved for 
publication at the Council meeting held on 19 September 2018. Following a 
statutory consultation period the plan will submitted to the Minister for Housing 
Communities and Local Government for an Examination in Public. The Local 
Plan (Part 2) does not form part of the Development Plan until adopted but 
nevertheless is a material planning consideration albeit that the weight that 
can be accorded to it as part of the decision making process is limited at the 
present time. 
 

6.13 The Allerdale Local Plan (Part 2) includes a policy (SA49) that related 
specifically to the Lower Derwent Valley an area which includes the existing 
football stadium at Borough Park. This policy recognises that the Lower 
Derwent Valley has the potential to provide a complementary role to the town 
centre focussing on its sporting and cultural heritage and building on existing 
leisure and retail uses. The policy states: 
 

Policy SA49 Lower Derwent Valley 

Proposals for new or replacement sport or leisure facilities and ancillary main 
town centre uses will be supported in the Lower Derwent Valley area, as 
defined on the Policies Map. 

Proposals will be expected to: 

 Deliver high quality design solutions that reflect and enhances its location 
at the northern gateway to the town.  

 Improve access and connections, especially pedestrian and cycling, within 
the Lower Derwent Valley itself and to the town centre: and 

 Contribute the enhancement and protection of existing biodiversity, open 
space and green infrastructure, especially along the River Derwent 
corridor. 
 

Proposals for main town centre uses will be expected to comply with relevant 
sequential and impact tests set out in Policies S16 and DM8. 

Page 82



Opportunities along the River Derwent Corridor to protect and enhance its 
ecological value and flood storage capacity and improve recreational use, 
including pedestrian and cycle links to the town centre will be supported. 

 
6.14 The proposals for the development of a new community stadium are 

consistent with this emerging policy and its aims.  
 
The Planning Process 
 

6.15 To ensure that all relevant planning issues are addressed as part of the 
design development planning consultants have been appointed to advise the 
design team and coordinate the planning application process. As part of this 
process the design team have taken advantage of the Council’s pre-
application advice service and met with the development management team 
who have provided advice on the planning issues to be address and the 
information and related studies that will be required to support the planning 
application and ensure that a robust planning submission can be made.  
 

6.16 As part of the pre-application process a community engagement event took 
place at the Workington Leisure Centre on 4 December 2018.  
 

6.17 Following its submission the planning application will be advertised in the 
normal way with appropriate consultation undertaken with all statutory and 
technical consultees. Following assessment by planning officers the planning 
application will be considered by the Development Panel.  

  

Page 83



 
 

7.0 High Level Financial Analysis 
 

High Level Financial Model  
 

7.1 A high level financial model has been created to provide an initial idea of 
potential revenue streams that could be achieved and the costs of running 
the stadium facility.   
 

7.2 Whilst this model has been developed using a wide range of evidence 
bases, tested against other operational facilities such as Leigh Sports 
Village, to the extent that commercial confidence allows, at this stage some 
of the figures remain as best estimates and remain indicative only  

 
7.3 The purpose of creating the financial model is to consider whether the 

stadium can be operated on a commercially sustainable basis and within 
reasonable risk thresholds. 

 
7.4 It is acknowledged that there are limitations to this model, mainly due to the 

risks associated with the complex and unpredictable nature of financial 
arrangements of professional and in particular semi-professional sporting 
clubs. 

 
7.5 At this stage the model is not a proposal.  A detailed financial plan has been 

created and this considers potential scenarios for how the Stadium could 
operate. 

 
7.6 The work undertaken to date does however provide sufficient information 

and confidence to further develop the model. The next stage of this work is 
to further refine the robustness of the numbers used within the model and 
this will involve updating the financial assumptions relating to the initial 
design and cost plan, and with the benefit of heads of terms between the 
parties involved having been agreed once these have been concluded.  It is 
also intended to seek expert advice in relation to the financial modelling and 
this work has now been commissioned. 
 

7.7 What the modelling does identify at this stage is that there is a significant 
capital funding shortfall. Initially the modelling work undertaken is based on 
using prudential borrowing (over 30 years) as a means of providing the 
capital for the build. 

 
7.8 Obviously if the funding gap can be reduced, the greater scope there is for 

increasing the robustness of the commercial model.  A number of options 
are available for alternative sources of financing and these are currently 
being worked out in further detail.   

 
7.9 The options that are currently being considered in further detail are: 

 
- The Council undertakes full borrowing to pay for the stadium; 

Page 84



- The potential to sell future income streams to provide upfront capital; 
- Work with an institutional investor/developer to build the stadium  

Revenue Model – Income and Expenditure Analysis 

7.10 The purpose of this section is to assess the cost of running the stadium.  It 
assumes that the governance model is as that set out in Section 8 and that a 
separate operating company is established to run the stadium. 
 

7.11 As set out above, further discussions and due diligence is required on the 
model, but the main assumptions used are set out in the tables below:- 

 

INCOME ASSUMPTIONS 
  
Workington Reds FC Rental based on number of games 

played

Workington Town RLFC Rental based on number of games 
played 

Office Space Rental based on negotiated £ per sq 
foot – 5 yearly uplifts 

3G Pitch Competitive rate charged to community 
users 

Match Day Hospitality 

Advertising / Naming rights  estimated based on market 
analysis 

Events Estimated based on a number of events, 
private hires  

 
EXPENDITURE ASSUMPTIONS 

  

Employee costs Managing Director, Finance 
Manager, Marketing and Events 
manager, Ground Manager, 
Safety manager, stewards, 
catering staff and admin staff – 
all at market rates with oncosts = 

NNDR Based on estimated size and 
based on similar sized stadiums 

Insurance Based on 0.08% of build costs = 

Page 85



Cleaning Based on Allerdale BC rates 

Utilities Estimated at current rates

Repairs and Maintenance Estimated at

 
Capital Funding and Deliverability 
 

7.12 The purpose of this section of the report is to assess the funding streams 
available to deliver the project and align them with the capital costs as 
developed by the design team and cost consultants. The current estimates 
of capital costs are between £24.8 to £26.8m but these will be refined further 
as design development work is progressed. 
 

7.13 It is still too early to confirm the external capital funding that will be available 
to support this project, but initial estimates used for the purposes of this 
modelling are that the Football Foundation could contribute £750,000 for the 
3G synthetic pitch and that the Rugby League World Cup (RLWC) could 
contribute £875,000 to the project. Again these estimates will be refined as 
confirmation of funding is received.   

 
7.14 At this stage the modelling identifies that there is a significant capital funding 

shortfall and as such if the Council is to undertake the borrowing then it has 
to evidence that there is a robust commercial operating model.  It is essential 
that any chosen option can exist notwithstanding the fluctuations of 
performance of the professional sports teams. 

 
7.15 The Council could dispose of assets and use the sales proceeds to reduce 

the funding gap and borrowing requirement.  However, there are no major 
disposal programmes that would generate the level of cash needed for a 
project of this size and in any case disposals are likely to take place over 
years and not months and certainly not in time to secure the World Cup bid. 
Nevertheless, it is considered that there may be some scope for the limited 
disposal of assets that could contribute to a reduction in the borrowing 
requirement for the proposed development.  
 

7.16 If the borrowing can be reduced or replaced then there is more scope for the 
Stadium to generate a profit resulting in a more commercially robust model. 
 

7.17 There are other models that could be used to finance the capital costs and 
the possibility of accessing these funds differs from model to model. 

 
7.18 Currently work is on-going to look at two additional models. These are the 

option to sell the income streams to provide an up-front capital receipt and 
also another option where an institutional investor takes on the development 
of the stadium 

 
Option 1 – Council borrows full debt  

Page 86



7.19 This model has assumed capital construction costs of £25 million (to be 
confirmed). 
 

7.20 As set out above, it has been assumed that contributions of £1,625,000 will 
be received from the Football Foundation and the RLWC.  This leaves a 
balance of £23,375,000 that would require financing. 

 
7.21 The model has assumed the Council will borrow this amount (£23.375m) 

from the PWLB.  The loan would be an Equal Instalment of Principal (EIP) 
Loan.  This is a type of loan where each payment includes an equal amount 
in respect of loan principle, therefore interest due with each payment 
reduces as the principal is eroded, and so the total amount reduces with 
each instalment. 

 
7.22 The financial model has assumed that the loan will be taken out over a 30 

year life and the applicable interest rate payable would be 3.69%. 
 

7.23 The Council would use the cash to pay for the construction of the stadium 
and when it is completed it would then transfer the asset (the stadium) to the 
Stadium Operating Company. 

 
7.24 The stadium company would then finance the asset by an equivalent loan to 

the PWLB debt and pay this loan charge to the Council. 

 
Option 2 – Potential to sell future income streams to provide upfront 
capital 

7.30 For this model it is assumed that the financial model income and expenditure 
account is as set out in previous sections. 
 

Page 87



7.31 However, instead of the Stadium Company receiving the rentals each year 
from the office accommodation, it is assumed that these rental income 
streams could be sold to an institutional investor for an upfront capital 
scheme. 

 
7.33 This capital receipt would then be used to finance the construction cost of 

the Stadium and the Council would therefore not need to incur any debt 
charges and the Stadium Company would not need to cover this expenditure 
in its income and expenditure account. 

 
7.34 This option therefore mitigates the significant risk exposure to the Council as 

no borrowing will be required.  It does however mean that there are no 
significant income streams to the Stadium and therefore significant control is 
reduced. 

 
Option 3 – Work with an Institutional Investor to build the stadium 

7.37 Another option is to investigate working with an institutional investor to take 
on the development/construction of the stadium. 

 
7.38 In this case the investor would provide the capital to pay for the build and 

then they would lease the asset back to the Stadium Company. 
 

7.39 This would mean that the need for debt and associated financing costs are 
removed from both the Council and the Stadium Operating Company.  
However, the Stadium Operating Company would need to factor into its 
Income and Expenditure account this lease charge. 

 
7.40 The financial services team are currently working with our Treasury 

Advisors, Link, to review options around this option and working up detailed 
financial modelling. 

 
Further assessment of financial business case 
 

7.41 The Council is in the process of appointing a suitably qualified and 
experience consultant to undertake financial diligence and provide the 
Council with challenge and assistance in evaluating the value for money, 

Page 88



prudence, affordability and financial sustainability of this planned stadium 
development. 
 

7.42 The work to be undertaken includes:  
 
- reviewing the Council’s business plans and assisting the Council in 

evaluating the project’s deliverability;  
- providing challenge and advice in relation to the assumptions 

underpinning the financial model;  
-  evaluating the quality of the evidence supporting principal cost and 

income streams included in the financial models; 
- assisting the Council in its understanding of the risks (and rewards) 

associated with a development of this nature and its evaluation and 
response to identified risks; 

- providing advice on the tax implications of the proposed development 
(including VAT, Corporation Tax and SDLT); 

- provide advice and assistance on the proposed operating model and 
governance arrangements. 

 
 

  

Page 89



 
8.0 Governance and Management Options 

 
8.1 As with all major capital projects involving local authorities, there are a variety 

of different options available to Allerdale Borough Council and its partners in 
relation to the management and operating arrangements for the proposed 
Community Stadium. An analysis of the different options has been conducted 
using comparable information and an appraisal of general advantages and 
disadvantages of each from the perspective of the Council.  
 

8.2 The delivery and operating options are as follows:  
 
a) Option 1: Allerdale Borough Council manages and operates the 

Community Stadium directly. 
b) Option 2: Management and operation by one or both of the sports clubs.  
c) Option 3: Management and operation by a private sector operator.  
d) Option 4: Management and operation by a specially created Stadium 

Management Company 
 

8.3 There are a range of advantages and disadvantages from the Council’s 
perspective associated with each model. In addition to the merits of each 
model, the Council must consider the level of financial risk and reward to 
which it is prepared to be exposed as well as the influence and control it 
wants over issues such as venue pricing, programming and promotion. In due 
course, the Council would seek to protect its interests through specific terms 
in any management and operation agreements as well as any lease 
documents. A hybrid of the main models described could be developed. 

 
8.4 Considerable attention was paid to the management and governance 

arrangements by the representatives of the Council when undertaking the 
comparator study. A strong theme arising from all of the examples examined 
was that failure to carefully consider the implications of the management 
arrangements could seriously undermine the smooth running and cost 
effectiveness of the project. The stadium must be run like a commercial and 
competitive business. A simple governance model that enables business 
efficiency is essential.  
 

8.5 Consideration must also be given to the risks that face the professional clubs 
involved. Evidence shows that the smaller the financial burden and overall 
risks associated with the running of the stadium, the greater the chance of the 
clubs surviving and developing. The ownership and management of clubs can 
change frequently. Where councils are involved as a landowner or major 
stakeholder they have the ability to ensure the long-term sustainability of the 
professional clubs and other key partners. 
 

8.6 In the event that the Council were to appoint a stadium management company 
to operate the facility, then the selection process of an appropriate service 
provider at an early stage of development would be advantageous in order to 
enable the operator to influence the design and thereby maximise the 
efficiency and revenue generation opportunities. 

Page 90



Option 1: Allerdale Borough Council manages and operates the 
Community Stadium directly. 

Advantages 

 The Council would have complete control over the pricing, programming 
and promotion of the community use sporting and leisure facilities.  

 The Council would benefit from most/all non-match day revenues 
generated.  

 The Council would have control over the proper maintenance and 
marketing of a valuable corporate asset.  

 The Council could potentially use the stadium as a venue for events, 
meetings and other civic functions. 

Disadvantages 

 The Council would be exposed to the complete financial risk of the 
stadium (e.g. if the stadium makes an operating loss).  

 The Council would be responsible for all operating costs, including staffing, 
utilities, repairs and maintenance, insurance, and future re-investment in 
the stadium.    

 While the Council’s officers could contribute to the operation and 
management of sports and leisure facilities generally, running the 
community stadium would be resource intensive and would require 
specialist management and marketing expertise and experience, which the 
Council does not currently possess. As such, the Council would need to 
recruit or otherwise contract those skills in.  

 Workington Reds AFC and Workington Town RLC are unlikely to support 
this approach as they would not have an opportunity to generate 
commercial income for their activities (e.g. if they were only a tenant with 
the ability to use the stadium on match days). 

 
Option 2: Management and operation by one or both of the sports clubs 
 
Advantages 
 
 The exposure to financial risk of the Council would be minimised, in 

theory.  However, experience from the comparator study suggests that, in 
practice, Councils are regularly treated as the lender of last resort and 
effectively (if not legally) remain exposed to financial risk. 

Disadvantages 

 Both sports clubs have limited financial and organisation resources to 
commit to directly managing and operating the Community Stadium. 

 The club(s) would be exposed to the complete financial risk of the stadium 
(e.g. if the stadium makes an operating loss).  

 There is potential for a conflict of interest to arise between the club 
managing the venue and other clubs which become tenants (e.g. over the 
programming of facilities), unless clearly defined user agreements are put 
in place.  

 Community use of the stadium may not be treated as a priority. 

Page 91



 
Option 3: Management and operation by a private sector operator 

Advantages 

 The financial risk of the operations would be passed onto a third party 
organisation (not the Council or the clubs). 

 This model would provide access to specific stadium management 
expertise and industry knowledge. 

Disadvantages 

 We are not aware of a precedent for such a model being successfully 
implemented elsewhere in the UK.  

 There would be only a very small number of operators on the market 
capable of providing the specified services, making it difficult for the 
Council to ensure it obtains the requisite quality of services or achieves 
value for money. 

 The service provider may at times be unable to follow the Council’s vision 
throughout operations. 

 Any private sector operator would be seeking to maximise commercial 
income, which could impact on the Community Stadium’s ability to 
encourage community access and usage.  

 Both the Council and the clubs would lose influence and/or control over 
the pricing, programming and promotion of the stadium’s community 
facilities.  

 Any private sector operator would look to take their own profit slice from 
the operations, which would reduce the potential for generating profits to 
be re-invested back into the stadium and community uses.  

 The level of likely operating profit which could be generated by the 
Community Stadium is unlikely to be attractive to a private sector operator 
– or they may only agree to do it on the basis of an agreed annual revenue 
subsidy. 

 There may be difficulty in exploiting synergies between outsourced 
functions; potentially impacting profitability and customer experience. 

 Risks associated with the handling of confidential or commercially 
sensitive information by a third party operator and its subcontractors. 

 
Option 4: Management and operation by a specially created vehicle 
(Stadium Management Company) 

Advantages 

 This model provides flexibility and the company can be created to suit the 
capabilities and the risk appetite of the Council in its capacity as stadium 
developer/owner. 

 Depending on the nature and make-up of the company, the Council could 
retain complete control over operational issues whilst at the same time 
have the commercial freedom to exploit opportunities as they arise.  

 Alternatively, the clubs could take an interest in the Stadium Management 
Company/SPV, including providing representation at Board level. This not 
only allows the clubs to have a stake in controlling their destiny but also 

Page 92



allows for a sharing of operational decisions and financial risk, as 
appropriate. The Council would have freedom to negotiate those terms 
with the clubs and any other partners. 

 As a controlling owner/shareholder of the company, the Council would 
benefit from revenues generated including those from non-match days and 
would retain the ability to use the stadium as a venue for events, meetings 
and civic functions. 

 This approach potentially maximises the impact of the joint promotion of 
the stadium. 

 There is the potential to set the company up in such a way as to benefit 
from charitable status and/or tax efficiencies. 

Disadvantages 

 In the event that the stadium management company includes 
representatives from all partners, the legal arrangements regarding voting 
rights and income apportionment have the potential to become complex.  

 Experience elsewhere suggests that ownership of sports clubs can change 
hands regularly. The Council may find over time that it is legally tied to a 
relationship with partners where the principals change regularly (and bring 
with them different ideas and priorities). 

 
8.7 It is recommended that the Council creates a stadium management company 

to manage and operate the community stadium. This approach ensures that 
the Council retains a degree of control of the stadium asset while 
simultaneously balancing its risk exposure. Establishing a separate company 
will ensure that the stadium is run as a business enterprise with the ability to 
react to commercial opportunities as they arise and with a constant focus on 
the long-term economic sustainability of the facility and the clubs. If the clubs 
take a stake in the company then this would not only represent a sharing of 
operational and financial risk but would further demonstrate the parties’ 
commitment to collaboration and a long-term fruitful working relationship. It is 
however, key for the Council to ensure that it retains a controlling interest in 
the stadium management company to protect its interests in the asset. 

Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 94



‘CALL-IN’ REQUEST FORM 
 

This form should be used by any Councillors wishing to call-in 
 

1. any decision taken by the Executive, or an Executive decision taken by an officer with 
delegated authority, for reconsideration prior to implementation; 

 
2. any matter to be considered to be outside the Policy and Budget Framework. 

 
Please return your form to Democratic Services. Continue on separate sheet if necessary. 

 
 

 

1.  Call-In of a decision made by the Executive 
 

Decision Minute No: 
 

………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 

Decision Title: 

Future plans for Borough Park and Derwent Park 
 

 

 

Please indicate the grounds for calling in the decision for review 
 

Supporting documents were wholly redacted. Scrutiny of Executive decisions requires that 
detail is available, which would still be possible without disclosure of confidential 
information. 

 
What written evidence do you believe needs to be considered or reconsidered? 

 
An unredacted version of the documents relating to the decision should be made available 
to all councillors including and especially those who sit on Scrutiny. 

 
Oral evidence - are there stakeholders or interested parties you feel have not been consulted in 
reaching the decision, views that have not been given sufficient weight, or other witnesses that 
you feel should be heard. Why? 

 
As the decision relates to two assets that are currently under lease, one for 6 remaining 
years and one for over 100, the tenants should be involved. Elected members for the 
affected wards should also be heard. 

 
Are there risks or repercussions to the decision which you feel have not been taken into account? 

 
Without any detail, risks and repercussion can’t be assessed by elected Councillors. 

 
 

Cllr Bill Finlay 24 January 2019 
 

Page 95

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 96



Document is Restricted

Page 97

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 105

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Call-in Protocol for Overview and Scrutiny Committee

In considering a Call-in decision the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will follow this 
protocol:

Before Receipt of Call-in

Overview and Scrutiny support officers will work with the call-in signatories to 
complete the reasons for call-in. Completed reasons for call-in will be received by the 
Monitoring Officer in consultation with the relevant Chair(s) of Overview and 
Scrutiny, who will then consider whether to call-in the decision.

After Receipt of Call-in and before the meeting

The Monitoring Officer will confirm the validity of the call-in and advise all Councillors 
and Senior Management Team members of the call-in request.

The Leader of the Council will determine which Executive Member should attend the 
call-in, which officer should accompany them and which officer they appoint to 
advise the Overview and Scrutiny Committee on the call-in.

The Monitoring Officer will meet with the call-in signatories, to clarify the procedure, 
consider how they will present the call-in and prevent duplication. The Scrutiny 
Coordinator will brief the Chair on the call-in.

Documents

 The agenda will contain:

 This call-in Protocol

 The call-in request

 The Executive Members’ decision statement or minutes

 The original report(s) upon which the decision was made

 (In the case that either the minutes or report are exempt a public summary of 
the information will be provided as far as is possible).

Any other document that the Monitoring Officer, Executive Member or call-in 
signatories feel would assist the Committee in considering the call-in.

At the start of the meeting

The Chair will outline the procedure for the meeting, setting the tone and approach 
that will be taken.

Page 113

Agenda Annex



The meeting

The spokesperson(s) for the Councillors who have made the call-in request (who 
shall be seated together) should outline the reasons for the call-in. Each speaker will 
be time limited to 5 minutes.

The relevant Executive Member explains the rationale for the decision and may be 
supported by officers and the Leader of the Council as appropriate. They shall also 
be seated together. Each speaker will be time limited to 5 minutes.

Councillors who have made the call-in request have the opportunity to question the 
Executive Member.

Other members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee have the opportunity to 
question the Executive Member.

At the discretion of the Chair, other Members present may have the opportunity to 
question the Executive Member or make a brief statement.

At the discretion of the Chair, anyone else present may have the opportunity to make 
a statement (limited to 5 minutes) on the issue.

The Executive Member or the Leader of the Council will have a right of reply to any 
brief statement made on the issue.

Before forming a decision, the Chair may decide to adjourn the meeting in order to 
allow the call-in signatories to reflect on the evidence received and to consider any 
proposals they wish the Committee to consider.

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will debate the issue. Only members of the 
Committee and the Officer appointed by the Leader of the Council to advise the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee on the call-in may speak.

If there is no proposal the Chair or another Member may propose a motion which 
can be voted on in the normal way.

Options available to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee

There are only three options available to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee when 
they are considering a call-in:

 Let the decision stand

 Refer the decision back to the decision taker, stating their concerns and the 
decision that the Committee wish the decision taker to make

 Refer the decision to full Council if the decision is contrary to the Policy 
Framework contrary to or not wholly consistent with the budget.

Page 114



Additionally the Overview and Scrutiny Committee may make other 
recommendations as a result of the call-in to relevant bodies, which shall be 
considered after a decision has been reached on the call-in.

When can a decision be called-in?

It is important that the call-in process is not abused, nor causes unreasonable delay; 
the main tool of the overview and scrutiny committee to improve the delivery of 
policies and services should be detailed reviews, rather than call-ins.

The Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules in Part Six of the council’s constitution 
specify formal safeguards for the use of call-in.  These include rules about the 
number of members who must request a call-in and a restriction that prevents any 
decision on the same matter being called-in on more than one occasion within a six 
month period.  The constitution also suggests that call-ins should be reserved for 
exceptional circumstances.  Broadly, a decision can be called-in when members:

 believe it may be contrary to the normal requirements for decision-making;

 believe it may be contrary to the council’s agreed Policy Framework and/or 
budget;

 need further information from the decision-taker to explain why it was taken.

Call-in checklist

The above rules and criteria can be brought together in the following checklist of 
questions (or tests) that can be used when a member is considering a call-in.  
Questions 2-5 can also be used by authors to test draft reports for Executive.

1 Can the decision actually 
be called in?

If the answer to any of questions 1(a)-(g) is yes, 
then the decision CANNOT be called-in.
a)  Does it relate to a non-executive function?
b)  Was it a non-key decision taken by an 

officer   under delegated powers?
c)  Was it classed as an urgent decision?
d)  Has the issue been called-in in the last six 

months?
e)  Does the decision relate to an existing call-in 

(i.e. decisions taken in relation to a reference 
back)?

f)   Does the decision relate to the formulation 
of a policy or budget matter that requires full 
council approval?

g)  Was it a decision taken by full council?

Page 115



2 Was the decision in 
accordance with the 
council’s policy 
framework?

a)  What is the relevant policy or strategy?
b)  Is the decision contrary to that policy?
c)  If yes, how?

3 Was the decision in 
accordance with the 
agreed budget or budget 
procedures?

a)  Is there funding for the proposal in an agreed 
budget/capital programme?

b)  If no, have the rules for virement and 
supplementary estimates been observed?

4 Was the decision taken in 
accordance with the 
principles of good 
decision-making (Section 
10 of the Constitution)?

a)  Does the decision comply with the council’s 
constitution, i.e.:

 Scheme of Delegation

 Rules of Procedure

 Codes and Protocols?

b)  Was the decision reasonable within the 
common meaning of the word, i.e. rational, 
based on sound judgment?

c)  Was the decision reasonable within the legal 
definition of ‘reasonableness’, i.e. was 
everything relevant taken into account, and 
was everything irrelevant disregarded?

d)  Was the decision proportionate, i.e. is the 
action proportionate to the desired outcome

e)  Was the decision taken on the basis of due 
consultation?

f)  Was the decision taken on the basis of 
professional advice from officers?

g) Were human rights respected and/or will the 
decision give rise to any human rights 
implications, i.e. without discrimination, the 
right of an individual to:
 liberty and security

 the enjoyment of their property;

 a fair trial:

 respect for private and family life;

 freedom of thought, conscience and

religion;
 freedom of expression; and

Page 116



 freedom of assembly and association 
etc?

h)  When the decision was taken, was there a 
presumption in favour of openness?

5 Has the decision been 
well explained, i.e. do you 
need more information?

a) Was it clear what the reasons for the decision 
were?

b)  Was it clear what the desired outcomes 
were?

c)  Was it clear what alterative options (if any) 
were considered?

d)  Was it clear why the alterative options were 
not chosen?

e)  Do you need any more 
information/clarification?

Page 117



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 118


	Agenda
	3 Call In - Consideration of proposals for the development of a new community stadium for Workington
	Consideration of proposals for the development of a new community stadium for Workington Executive ReportV4a
	Draft Business Case Vfinal5 exempt document
	Draft Business Case Vfinal5 redacated for publication

	4 Call In - Future Plans for Borough Park and Derwent Park
	Future plans for Borough Park and Derwent Park report
	Appendix Report BP and DP

	 Call-in Protocol for Overview and Scrutiny Committee



